
 

 

 
    Date: 30.05.2025                             SEC: COORD: 134 

 

िवषय / Sub:   Outcome of Board Meeting and Submission of Audited Standalone & 

Consolidated Financial Results for the quarter & year ended March 31, 2025 

 

महोदय / महोदया, Sir / Madam, 
 

Enclosed herewith please find the Audited Financial Results (Standalone and Consolidated) in the 

prescribed format under Regulation 33 of SEBI (LODR) Regulation 2015 along with Auditors 

Report thereon (Standalone and Consolidated) for the quarter & year ended March 31, 2025. 

   

The results have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and approved by the Board of Directors 

in their meeting held on Friday, the 30th day of May, 2025. The Auditor has qualified the report 

hence the statement of impact of Auditor’s qualification is also being attached with the financial 

results. 

 

Further, Pursuant to Regulation 43 of SEBI (LODR) Regulation 2015, the Board of Directors of the 

Company has recommended a dividend of Rs.2.90 per share on the equity share capital of the 

company aggregating an amount of Rs. 24,87,31,260/- for the financial year ended March 31, 

2025.   

   Meeting Start Time   : 1200 hours 

   Meeting concluding time : 1650 hours  

                 

Thanking you/ ध
यवाद 

For India Tourism Development Corporation Ltd. / भारत पय�टन �वकास िनगम िलिमटेड  

 

 

VK Jain/ वी के जैन 

Company Secretary / कंपनी सिचव 
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Independent Auditor's Report on Standalone Audited Financial Results for the 
Quarter and Year ended March 31, 2025 of India Tourism Development Corporation 
Limited Pursuant to the regulation 33 of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015, as amended. 

To 
The Board of Directors 

India Tourism Development Corporation Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Financial Results 

Qualified Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying Statement of Standalone quarterly and annual financial 
results of India Tourism D evelopment Corporation Limited (the "Company") for the quarter 
ended March 31 , 2025 and for the year ended March 31 , 2025 (the Standalone Annual 
Financial Results"). The Standalone Annual Financial Results have been submitted by the 
Company pursuant to the requirement of Regulation 33 of SEBI (Listing Obligation and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 , as amended ("Listing Regulations"). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to 
us, the aforesaid Standalone financial results except for possible effects of the matters 
described in the basis of qualified opinion section, emphasis of matters and other matters of 
our report. 

1. are presented in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 33 of the Listing 
Regulations in this regard; and 

11. give a true and fair view in conformity with the recogmt10n and measurement 
principles laid down in the applicable Indian accounting standards (Ind AS) and 
other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the net profit and other 
comprehensive income and other financial information for the quarter and year 
ended 31 st March, 2025. 

Basis for Qualified Opinion 

A. MSMED Act Compliances: 

As per the information provided to us, the Company has identified suppliers 
registered under the MSMED Act, 2006, by obtaining confirmation from suppliers 
and information has been collated to the extent of information received. 

ln the absence of the requisite audit evidence, we are unable to determine the delay 
in making payment to MSME entities, liability of interest and compliance on such 
delayed payments in terms of provisions of MS MED Act. 

E-21, Basment, Jangpura Ext., New Delhi - 110014, (INDIA) 
E-mail: hdsg@hdsgindia.com, hsg@hdsgindia.com 

Website : www.hdsgindia.com 



B. Revenue from License fee 

The Company has not generated invoices for license fees on licensees of units, viz. 
Ashok Hotel, Samrat Hotel & Taj Restaurant (units of ITDC) to the tune of Rs. 
1292.59 lakhs dur ing the year 2020-2 1 on account of Covid-19 pandemic, and hence 
not considered in Books of Accounts. The matter is sti ll under consideration before 
the board of Directors of lTDC. Thus. the sale of services from license fees and trade 
receivables of the Company continued to be understated to this extent. 

C. Ashok Travels and Tours (ATT) Delhi 

I. ATT had entered into a General Sales Agent (GSA) agreement with Mis Shree 
Plan Your Journey Pvt. Ltd. (SPYJ) in September 2019 for marketing of its travel­
related business. Upon expiry of th is agreement, SPYJ was again appointed as 
GSA through a fresh open tender process dated October 21, 2024. As per 
management, the terms and conditions of the new agreement are to be considered 
independently from the earlier arrangement. In respect of the GSA agreement 
dated September 2019, we observed the fo llowing points: 

I. After the initial deposit of security of Rs. 300.00 lakh. The said amount was 
required to be increased additionally through the deposit of funds as and 
when required based on the business. As per the agreement, the evaluation 
is to be made by the Company on a monthly basis, and in case of its non­
compliance, the issue of all travel-related services would be stopped till 
funds are received. 

However, as at March 3 1, 2025, total amount receivable from the business 
conducted through the GSA amounts to Rs. 5,238.96 lakh, whereas, ATT 
has kept on ·HOLD' only an amount of Rs. 1,579.82 lakh in the form of 
security deposit, bank guarantee, commission and other services payable to 
cover the outstanding limit. Hence, there is a deficit which is not in 
consonance with the terms of the agreement ( dated September, 2019) and 
directive of the Board. 

II . We observe that various conditions of the agreement with SPYJ were not 
complied &/or not enforced like credit limit, reconciliation, monthly 
evaluation, additional Bank Guarantee (BG) etc. Despite raising the issues 
in the prev ious years and also in the current year. There is periodical 
reconciliation of PLB from Airlines, identification of unlinked receipts, 
credit note delays, settlement of commission bills after receiving full 
payment from SPYJ clients, compliance of SoP etc. Separate reconciliation 
fo r compliance towards old agreement was not available on record. Above 
mentioned deficiencies have repercussions on timely compliance of TDS 
and provisions under GST Act. 

In view of the circumstances stated in para I and TI above we are unable to 
comment on the final outcome of non-compl iance of the terms of Agreement, 
compliance, reconciliation and/ or assessment of recoverability for the 
outstanding in the accounts pertaining to SPY J and ATT customers and its 
consequential impact on the Standalone Financial Statements. 



2. During the year 2024-25, ITDC through its division - Ashok Travels & Tours 
(ATT), undertook a prestigious project to provide luxury tent accommodation and 
a llied faci lities during Maha Kumbh 2025 in Prayagraj. The project was executed 
through one of ATT's empanelled General Sales Agent (GSA) named Mis Zenith 
Leisure Holidays Ltd. further, Considering the special nature of assignment and 
business involved, ITDC has engaged, an independent Chartered Accountant (CA) 
firm to conduct reconciliation, verification, and certification of the project accounts 
and based on the interim report of such CA firm, income and expenses have been 
recognised in the financ ial statement for the period ended march 3 1, 2025. The 
outcome is subject to final report and reconciliation. (Refer point No.7 of note of 
Standalone Financial Results) 

In the absence of the final report duly veri fied by the management not being made 
available to us, we were unable to verify the same hence in v iew of this the final 
impact of the same on the Standalone financ ial statement for the year ended 31st 
march 2025 could not be ascertained. 

3. ATT (ITDC) has entered into Memorandum of understanding (MoU)/ Travel 
Services Agreement (TSA) with its various customers comprising of mainly 
Ministries/ Govt. Departments/ Government organizations for rendering travel 
related serv ices of Domestic and International Air T icketing at "00"/ N il charge. 
F urther an Office Memorandum (OM) was issued by MoF on 16th June, 2022 for 
non-levy of any agency charges/ convenience fee. ln some of the cases the company 
is not implement such clauses of TSA and aforementioned (OM). 

In view of circumstances stated in para above, we are unable to comment on the 
final outcome of non- compliance of terms of MoU w ith ATT customers and its 
consequential impact thereof on the Standalone F inancial statement. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under 
section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibi lities under those Standards are further described 
in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of 
Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) together with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the Standalone Financial Statements 
under the provisions of the Act and the Rules there under, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our qualified opinion, except as stated elsewhere in the report. 



Emphasis of Matter 

We draw attention to the following notes on the standalone financial statements being 
matters pertaining to India Tourism Development Corporation Limited requiring emphasis 
by us: 

1. Disinvestments 

Pursuant to decision of the Government of India, that Ministry of Tourism is under 
process of examining the proposals of sale/lease of hotel p roperties of the Company 
including properties of Subsidiary Companies. (Refer point No. 3, 4 & 5 of note of 
Standalone Financial Results) 

2. Status of Joint Venture Company 

The Company formed Joint Venture Company with Aldeasa of Spain by making of 
investment in 5000 equity shares of Rs. 10/- each, for which provision has been made 
for 100% diminution in value of investment. The said Company has been struck off by 
the Registrar of Companies and dissolved w.e.f. 21st Aug, 201 7. The liability of 
Rs.226.51 lakhs as on 3 1st March, 2025 is outstanding towards ITDC Aldeasa, 
including amount deposited of Rs. 108.3 8 lakhs. 

Further, the disclosure is limited to the extent of one party as mentioned above and in 
the absence of required information with regards to identifying such balances and 
transactions with other struck off parties (if any), we are unable to comment in absence 
of any audit evidence in this regard 

3. Amount due from Subsidiaries 

Management fee amounting to Rs 65.50 lakhs and interest of Rs 312.46 lakhs on Loans 
given to Subsidiary prior to 0 1.04.2016 being prior to Ind AS Transition has not been 
recognized in the Standalone Financial Statements. 

No provision for outstanding dues from subsidiaries exceeding 3 years was made, for 
which management represented that the same will be recovered on settlement of 
Disinvestments. 

4. Trade Receivables and Trade Payables 

• The Company initiated balance confirmations for receivables and payables; however, 
responses were minimal, limiting the ability to perform reconciliations or assess the 
amount recoverable/ payable. As a result, the impact on the Standalone Financial 
Statements is presently unascertainable. 



• Receivables include long-outstanding balances beyond credit terms without adequate 
recovery monitoring. Provisions have been made as per Company policy, including Rs 
1,200.50 lakhs towards legal cases, though the overall recovery process requires 
strengthening. 

• On the payables side, no system exists for confirmation and reconciliation of trade 
payable. Trade payables are bifurcated into MSME and others, but reconciliation status 
is assessed only where litigation exists. In the absence of sufficient audit evidence, we 
are unable to comment thereon and impact thereof on Standalone financial statements. 

5 Property tax 

There is a dispute regarding the assessment of property tax raised by NDMC for The 
Ashok Hotel , Samrat Hotel & Janpath Hotel. The order was challenged by ITDC by 
filing a writ petition with the Hon'ble High Court of Delhi, wh ich was heard on 
September 25, 2020. NDMC issued demand cum attachment notices from time to time 
which all are challenged by ITDC before the Hon'ble High Court of Delhi and hearings 
took place before the Hon' ble High Court of Delhi. As per latest court hearing on 
December 18, 2024, the Hon ' ble High Court of Delhi had directed that both the parties 
should make an attempt to resolve the dispute amicably, consequently the company has 
again submitted the proposal on dated March 10, 2025 after reassessment of property 
tax liability up to F.Y. 2023-24 of Rs. 9868.00 lakhs for the Hotel Ashok & Hotel 
Samrat to NDMC. (Refer point No.8 of note of Standalone Financial Results) 

6 Unlinked receipts 

Unlinked receipts of Rs 22 1.82 Lakhs from debtors against billing by the Company, 
which could not be matched with the amount standing to the debit of the receivables is 
appearing as liabilities ''Advance from Customers" in the Standalone financial 
statements of the Company. To that extent, the Trade Receivables and Current 
Liabilities are overstated. 

7 Inventory 

The consumption of stocks, stores, crockery, cutlery, etc. is being arrived by adding 
opening balances to the purchases and deducting therefrom closing balances as per 
practice being followed from the past. In absence of maintenance of proper record on 
day-to-day basis for receipts, issues and closing balances, the shortage, scrap, misuse or 
theft of inventory is not ascertainable and quantifiable. 

Further the valuation is continued in certain cases at cost instead of lower the cost or 
NRV in terms of policy of the Company. Impact thereof is not ascertainable and 
quantifiable. 



8 TDS Receivable/income tax assessments 

TDS Receivable appearing in the books of accounts, for which reconciliation between 
books of accounts, 26AS, and claim made in Income Tax Returns is in progress. 
Correctness of TDS receivable could not be verified, and hence we are unable to 
ascertain the impact thereof in the standalone financial statements. 

9 Loss/shortage of Property, Plant & Equipment 

Records for Property Plant Equipment (Fixed Assets) are not properly maintained and 
updated at various units. Further, statements wherever, prepared for physical 
verification has no base and as such verification is not capable of reconciliations either 
with the Books of Accounts or Fixed Assets Records, wherever, maintained. Hence 
impact of loss/ shortage/ scrap of assets remains indeterminable. 

10 Security deposit with DIAL 

At Ashok International Trade Division (AITD- A unit of ITDC), the sum of Rs. 160.97 
lakhs paid in the year 2006-07 as security deposit in the form of fixed deposit (FD) 
receipt in favour of Delhi International Airport Private Limited (DIAL) was shown as 
recoverable. The of FD was encashed during 2007-08 by DIAL on account of service 
tax charged by DIAL in billing of service provided to the Company. The management, 
after making due assessment, has made provision fo r doubtful debts in the F.Y. 2020-
21. However, the matter is being disputed by the Company, as it was in the past. 

11 Sam rat Hotel (A Unit of ITDC) 

At Samrat Hotel (a unit of ITDC), a licensee viz, Good Times Restaurant Pvt. Ltd filed 
claim towards refund of licensee fee. A sum of Rs 904.16 Lakhs has been deposited by 
the Company as per interim orders of High Court dated 24. 12.2020 (including interest). 
The matter is in appeal before Hon' ble High Court, Delhi Good Times Restaurant Pvt. 
Ltd has also filed an execution petition, proceedings whereof has been listed for 
03.08.2022. Management is confident for no liability and hence no provision has been 
considered. 

12 Ashok Consultancy and Engineering Services (ACES) 

a) In Ashok Consultancy and Engineering Services (ACES- A unit of ITDC), out of total 
85 projects, 56 projects were completed/ closed but not closed in books of accounts as 
final bills were reportedly not received/settled. 

b) Dues recoverable from DDA 

MoU was signed between ITDC and DDA, as a special business dealing for furnishing 
DDA Flats with furniture and fixtures during Commonwealth Games 2010 (CWG). 
Litigations were raised by the vendors/ parties engaged by ITDC (for supply of 
furniture & fixtures), due to non-receipt of their ordered items by DDA. Subsequent 

_,,,;:::::._:.:::::::::::,... 
c,.&Ass ments were made by ITDC to vendors as per the Court Orders from time to time. 

oc,,· very proceedings were initiated by ITDC from DDA as per the MoU. Thereafter, 
matter is under dispute between ITDC and DDA, and is further referred to 



Administrative Mechanism for Resolution of CPSE's Disputes (AMRCD). Department 
of Public Enterprise (MoF) further issued a notification dated I 0th February'2023 
whereby a committee is formed to examine and submit its recommendations within the 
stipulated time period of three months from the date of notification of the committee. 
Total amount recoverable from DDA is Rs 1,882.09 lakhs (PY Rs 1,882.09 Lakhs). 

ITDC policy and practice adopted for provisioning of receivables, for transactions 
entered into during the normal course of business and the transaction entered is not 
covered under the same. The matter is under consideration before the AMRCD and the 
management is very confident or recovery of the amount involved, therefore, no 
provis ion was considered necessary as per the company policy. 

c) Ministry of Tourism has appointed ITDC as Central Nodal Agency for Central Sector 
Schemes from F.Y. 2022-23, i.e., Swadesh Darshan Scheme and PRASAD 
(Pilgrimage Rejuvenation and Spiritual Augmentation Drive) for monitoring over the 
expenditure limits a llotted to the State Tourism Board and to resolve day to day 
queries ra ised by Sub Nodal Agency. The amount received against the same has been 
shown under earmarked balance on the face of the balance sheet separately and 
corresponding amount is shown under "other financial liability. 

13 Hotel The Ashok (A Unit of ITDC) 

Hotel The Ashok has allotted space to various licensees for business/office use. During 
the review, it has been observed that several licensees agreement have expired and are 
pending formal renewal. However, invoice continues to be carried out based on these 
expired agreement and corresponding revenue is being recognised in the books. 

14 T urnover of Ashok Travels & T our (A TT), Delhi 

Turnover of Package Tour Operations (incl. Transport & Hotel) of Ashok Travels & 
Tours, New Delhi (A TT), was being shown on Gross Basis earlier, however, as per the 
terms of contract, A TT was acting pure ly as an agent. Company has reviewed its 
revenue recognition in compliance to Ind AS 115 and adjusted revenue and cost of 
services and previous year accordingly. However, there will be no impact on the 
profitability.(Refer point No.6 of note of Standalone Financial Results) 

15 Legal / interest etc. on contingent liabilities 

Amount indicated as contingent liabilities/ claims against the company only reflects 
basic values. Legal, interest and other costs being indeterminable are not considered at 
this stage. 

16 The results have been prepared in accordance wi th applicable SEBI (Listing Obligations 
and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 as amended. It may be noted that since 
currently there is Single Independent Director on the Board of ITDC, the meeting of the 
Board Level A udit Committee cannot be held due to lack of quorum. Accordingly, the 
results were directly placed in the Board Meeting held on 30.05.2025 and were 
reviewed & approved by the Board of D irectors in this meeting. (Re · No. I of 
note of Standalone F inancial Results) C:i,~ __ · __ , 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of these matters J. 
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Other Matters 

A. The financial statement includes the results for the quarter ended 31 March 2025 
being the balancing fi gure between the audited figures in respect of the full financial 
year ended 3 1st March, 2025 and the publ ished unaudited year to date figures up to 
the third quarter of the current financial year, which were subject Lo a limited review 
of 1st, 2nd & 3rd quarter by us as required under the Listing Regulations and we had 
expressed qualified opinion respectively on these results/ financial statements. 

B. Goods and Service Tax 

• The company has a mechanism fo r the collection of GST input and output data 
from the respective Delhi based unit on a monthly basis for the compilation and 
submission of GST returns and payment of GST taxes, which is being reconciled 
by the above units and Delhi Head Quarter from time to time and the differences 
arising in such reconciliation are not being properly traced. 

• Further Company has availed GST Input (ITC) on the invoices of the Creditors/ 
Vendors but the same has not been surrendered back in case payment has not 
been made within 180 days. The amount where of is not ascertainable and 
quantifiable in the absence of due records. 

In both the above cases, GST liability has not been provided which will impact on the 
results of Standalone Financial Statements, but the amount thereof is not 
ascertainable/ determinable in absence of availability of records. 

C. NSE AND BSE Impose fine for non-compliance of Regulation 17(1) of SEBI 
During the financial year 2024-25, Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) and National 
Stock Exchange (NSE) have levied fines of Rs. 21.95 lakhs on ITDC for non­
compliance of Regulation 17(1 ) of SEBI due to less number of required Independent 
Directors. ITDC has sent requests to Stock exchanges (BSE & NSE) for the waiver 
of such demands. Management is hopeful that the demand from BSE & NSE will be 
waived and consequent contingent liability of such demands has been considered in 
the notes to the accounts. 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of the above matter 

Management's Responsibilities for the Standalone Financial Results 

The Company's Management and Board of Directors are responsible for the matters stated 
in section 134(5) of the Act with respect to the preparation of these financial results that 
give a true and fair view of the net profit and other comprehensive income and other 
financial information in accordance w ith the recognition and measurement · laid 
down in Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) prescribed under Section 133,rn,.'A":~ ~ • d 
with relevant rules issued there under and other accounting principles gene --...;::;;::,..,,:::::;,..-, n 



India and in compliance with Regulation 33 of the Listing Regulations. This responsibility 
also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions 
of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting 
frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; 
making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the design, 
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating 
effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to 
the preparation and presentation of the statement that give a true and fai r view and are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the statement, the Board of Directors are responsible for assessing the 
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of 
Directors either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. The Board of Directors are also responsi ble for overseeing the 
Company's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Results 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the statement as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. M isstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the statement. 
As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Statement, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section l 43(3)(i) of 
the Act, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Company 
has in place adequate internal financial control with reference to financial statement 
and the operating effectiveness of such control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Director's use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast signifi 
the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude _
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related disclosures in the financial results or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Statement, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial results represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
signi ficant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we Ii.ave complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

For HDSG & ASSOCIATES 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm Registration No: 002 

CA Harbir 
Partner 
Membership No: 084072 
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Place: New Delhi 
Date: 30/05/2025 



INDIA TOURISM DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LTD. 
Regd . Office: ScoQe Compl!;lx, CQre 8, 6th Floor,7 Lodhi Road, New Delhi - 110003, 

Telefax No. 0ll-24360249, Website - www.th~ashokgrouQ.COm, CIN No. -L74899DL1965GOI004363 
Statement Of Audited Financial Results For Th!;l Quarter ang Year Ended On 31st Mar!;h, 2025 

(? in Lakhs) 
STANDALONE 

Quarter Ended For the year ended 

SI.No. Particulars 
31.03.2025 31.12.2024 31.03.2024 31.03.2025 31.03.2024 
(Audited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited) 

I Revenue from Operations 19,875.29 14,207.82 13,958.85 56,520.01 50,344 .93 
II Other Income 495.12 718.55 682.40 2,258.35 2,021.69 
Ill Total Income (1+11) 20,370.41 14,926.37 14,641.25 58,778.36 52,366.62 

IV Expenses 
(al Cost of materials consumed 8,091.52 4,349.54 3.452.66 19,296.50 13,818.02 
(bl Purchase of stock-in-trade 1,041.97 - 691.17 1,041.97 691.17 
(C ) Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-orogress and stock-in-trade (542.34) - (90.72) (542.34) (90.72) 
(dl Emolovees benefit expenses 2,569.96 2,561.84 2,694.78 9,740.41 10,089.96 
(e) Finance Cost 34.77 30.90 258.52 92.44 315.50 
(fl Depreciation & amortisation exoenses 155.06 175.79 142.56 639.08 644.63 
(q) Operating Expenses 5,494.44 4,758.74 4,740.48 18,426.77 16.466.30 
Total Expenses (IV) 16,845.38 11,876.81 11,889.45 48,694.83 !11,934.86 

V Profit/(loss) from Operations before exceptional items (Ill -IV)) 3,525.03 3,049.56 2,751.80 10,083.53 10,431.76 
VI Exceptional Items [Net Income/ (Exoense)J - - 8.52 - 8.70 
VII Profit/(Loss) before tax (V-VI) 3,525.03 3,049.56 2,743.28 10,083.53 10,423.06 
VIII Tax expense 

(a) Current Tax 1,141.70 866.40 652.74 3,004.01 2,766.35 
(bl Tax Written Back (Previous Year) - 76.06 - 76.06 (28.67) 
(c) Deferred Tax (167.72) (4.36) 979.39 (1,343.16) 980.48 

IX Profit/(Loss) from Continuing Operation after tax (VII-VII:) 2,551.05 2,111.46 1,111.15 8,346.62 6,704.90 
X Profi:J(Loss) from Discontinued Operation (21.44) (15.04) (74.41) (69.31) (104.26) 
XI Tax expense of Discontinued Ooeration (5.18) (3.70) (8.46) (16.94) (15.97) 
XII Profit/(Loss) from Discontinued Operation after tax (X-XI) (16.26) (11.34) (65.95) (52.37) (88.29) 
XIII Profit/(Loss) for the period (IX+XII) 2,534.79 2,100.12 1,045.20 8,294.25 6,616.61 
XIV Other Comprehensive Income 

(A) (i) Items that wi ll not be Reclassified to Profit or Loss (144.99) 74.94 92.35 (260.27) (70.60) 
(ii) Income Tax relating to items that will not be Reclassified to Profit or Loss 36.49 (18.87) 58.78 65.50 17.77 

Other Comprehensive Income for the Period (108.50) 56.07 151.13 (194.77) (52.83) 
xv Tota l Comprehensive Income for the Period (XV+XVI) 2,426.29" 2,156.19 1,196.33 8,099.48 6,563.78 

Paid-Up Equity Share Capital (8,57,69.400 Equity Shares of Face Value? 10 each) 8,576.94 8,576.94 8,576.94 8,576.94 8,576.94 

XVI 
Earnings per Equity Share (for continuing operations) 
(of? 10/- each ( not annualised ) 
(al Basic (in~) 2.97 2.46 1.30 9.73 7.81 
(bl Diluted (in?) 2.97 · 2.46 1.30 9.73 7.81 

XVII 
Earnings per Equity Share (for discontinued operations) 
(of r 10/- each ( not annualised ) 
(a) Basic (in~) (0.02) (0.01) (0.08) (0.06) (0.10) 
(b) Diluted (in~) (0 .02) (0.01 ) (0.08) (0.06) (0.10) 

XVIII 
Earnings per Equity Share (for discontinued 

-
and continuing operations) (of? 10/- each ( not annualised ) 
(a) Basic (in~) 2.95 2.45 1.22 9.67 7.71 
(b) Diluted (in~) - _-:2 q5 2.45 1 .22 9.67 7.71 
(See accompanvinq notes) ~~~ !.-)-,.. ........ ~&.A.,~ 
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INDIA TOURISM DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LTD. 
Reporting of Segment-wise R evenue, Results, Assets and Liabilties along with the quarterly results 

(~ in Lakhs) 
STANDALONE 

Quarter Ended Year Ende d 
31.03.2025 31.12.2024 31.03.2024 31.03.2025 31.03.2024 

Sl.No. Particulars A d ' d (A di d (A di d . d ( u 1te ) (Unaudited) u te ) u te ) (Audite ) 

l Seqment Revenue (Net sale/income) 
A Hotel Division 9,744.08 9,445.87 9,423.19 33,8 17.14 34,240.80 
B International Trade Division 360.39 376.72 459.43 1,323.99 1,587.29 
C Travels &Tours 2,568.56 572.17 779.00 4 ,653.94 2,997.97 
D Enaa,ConsultancvProjects 2,137.96 505.08 356.61 3,250.55 2,611.04 
E Event Manaaement,Hospitalitv & Tourism Manaqement Institute & Others 5,559.95 4,026.53 3,623.26 15,733.27 10,929.76 

TOTAL 20,370.94 14,926.37 14,641.49 58,778.89 52,366.86 
Less: Inter-Searnent Revenue - -

Net Sales/Income from Operations 20,370.94 14,926.37 14,641.49 58,778.89 52,366.86 

2 Searnent Results (Profit/(Loss) before tax and interest) 
A Hotel Division 2,419.48 2,517.00 2,638.30 7,424.87 8,527.26 
B International Trade Division (94.37) 57.48 33.45 (130.38) 216.76 
C Travels &Tours 562.96 121.90 (18.93) 1,160.49 644.61 
D Enqq,Consultancv Projects 5.78 72.03 178.10 59.98 110.11 
E Event Management,Hospitalitv & Tourism Management Institute& Others 644.51 297.01 96.47 1,591.70 1,135.56 

TOTAL 3,538.36 3 ,065.42 2,927.39 10,106.66 10,634.30 
Less: i) Interest 34.77 30.90 258.52 92.44 315.50 

ii) Other Un-allocable Expenditure net off - - - - -
iii) Un-allocable Income - - - - -

Total Profit Before Tax 3,503.59 3 ,034.52 2,668.87 10,014.22 10,318.80 

3 Searnent Assets 
A Hotel Division 13,352.34 15,097.26 14,269.01 13,352.34 14,269.01 
B International Trade Division 1,624.11 1,197.26 874.56 1,624.11 874.56 
C Travels & Tours 16,151.29 17,263.55 12,243.31 16,151.29 12,243.31 
D Enqq,Consultancv Projects 5,748.26 4,452.85 43,382.08 5,748.26 43,382.08 
E Event Manaqement,Hospitality & Tourism Manaqement Institute& Others 40,491.13 37,530.04 33,279.97 40,491.13 . 33,279.97 

Total Searnent Assets 77,357.13 75,540.96 1,04,048.93 77,367.13 1,04,048.93 
- -

4 Seqrnent Liabilities 
Vr-. &A ~ A Hotel Division ., l'ii"''" ~ 15,223.96 14,784.71 16,313.38 15,223.96 16,313.38 

~
~~ So~ 1'I. International Trade Divis;,1 ·_;,•_.._-.,,.-..,.; ~'- 412.99 404.29 520.50 412.99 520.50 

<Y f r,A .1' C\' Travels & Tours " .-~/ ~ \~\ 8,441.13 6,479.81 5,645.93 8,441.13 5,645.93 
J: ~~ Y l1l Enqa,Consultancv Proje m -::ti~ l\~ I 7,439.26 6,216.35 45,498.82 7,439.26 45,498.82 !~~fl:; . !." • Even• Manaoe=m,Hos " 'U l,,,qemen, Jn,,;ru,e& Ofuera 5,693.06 1,581.57 1,851.66 5,693.06 1.851.66 t1 7_,.§:./2 \ \ ~'-.. 7, .. , j 

~edAcc W Total Searnent Lii!hilitie'\.. '- * / / \o , 37,210.40 2!!,466.73 69,830.29 37,210.40 69,830.29 ~- - ~ 



INDIA TOURISM DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LTD. 
Statement of Assets and Liabilities as required under Regulation 33 of SEBI 

(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirement Regulations, 2015) as under: 
(r in lakh) 

Particulars 

ASSETS 
Non - Current Assets 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
Capital Work-In-Progress 
Intangible Assets 
Intangible Assets under development 
Financial Assets 

(i) Investments 
(ii) Other Financial Assets 

Deferred Tax Assets 
Other Non - Current Assets 
Total Non - Current Assets 
Current Assets 
Inventories 
Financial Assets 

(i) Trade Receivables 
(ii) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
(iii) Other Bank Balances 
(iv) Other Earmarked Balance - CN A 
(v) Loans 
(vi) Other Financial Assets 

Other Current Assets 
Non- Current Assets classified as held for sale 

Tota l Current Assets 
Total Assets 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Equity 
Equity Share Capital 
Other Equity 
Total Equity 
Liabilities 
Non - Current Liabilities 
Financial Liabilities 

(i) Borrowings 
(ii) Trade Payables 

- total outstanding dues of micro 
enterprises and smal l enterprises 

- total outstanding dues of creditors 
other than micro enterprises and 
small enterprises 

(iii) Other Financial Liabilities 
Provisions 
Deferred Tax Liabilities 
Government Grants 
Other Non - Current Liabilities 
Total Non-Current Liabilities 
Current Liabilities 
financia l Liabi lities 

(i) Borrowings 
(:a) Lease Liabilities 
(ii) Trade Payables 

- total outstanding dues of micro 
enterprises and sma ll enterprises 

- total outstanding dues of creditors 
other than micro enterprises and 
small enterprises 

(ii i) Other Financial Liabilities 
Provisions 
Government Grants 
Other Current Liabilities 
Total Current Liabilities 

· ilities 
ity and Liabilities 

Standalone 

As at 
31.03.2025 

3,430.58 
231.83 

1.26 
15.00 

879.87 
150.28 

4,596.73 
79.17 

9,384.72 

1,861.86 

12,093.50 
8,145.50 

13,670.84 
34.80 

3,082.41 
14,897.50 
14,106.86 

89.14 
67,982.41 
77,367.13 

8,576.94 
31,579.79 
40,156.73 

1,589.65 
233.82 

37 .19 
456.63 

2,317.29 

275.48 

12,116.51 
9,453.71 
2,987.07 

9.90 
10,050.44 
34,893.11 
37,210.40 
77,367.13 

As at 
31.03.2024 

3,326.63 
119.54 

6.46 
15.00 

879.87 
1,174.55 
3,188.07 

61.15 
8,771.27 

1,254.03 

7,620.71 
5,413.48 

12,252.75 
39,110.13 

2,912.38 
12,865.77 
13,759.27 

89.14 
95,277.66 

1,04,048.93 

8,576.94 
25,641.70 
34,218.64 

1,747.28 

50.76 
45.32 

1,843.36 

224.06 

8,655.86 
47,420.90 

2,750.38 
9.90 

8,925.83 
67,986.93 
69,830.29 

1,04,048.93 



INDIA TOURISM DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LIMITED 
STANDALONE CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2025 

Particulars 

A Cash flow from operating activities 

Net profit before tax (Continued Operations} 
Net profit before tax (Discontinued Operations) 
Adlustments for: 
Depreciation and amortisation 
Exceptional Item 
Provision no Longer required written back 
Profit/Loss on Foreign Exchange Variations 
Deferred Government Grant 
Other Non Cash Item 
Provision for Corporate Social Responsibility 
Write Off/ Depletion/ Provision for Inventories (Net) 
Write Off/ Provision for Doubtful Trade Receivables ( Net} 
Interest Income 
Rental Income 
Bad Debts/Advances Written Off 
(Gain)/ Loss on sale of fixed assets (net} 
Gain on financial Assets/ Liabilites carried at amortised cost 
Finance Cost (Non Cash) 

Operating cash flows before working capital changes 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 

(lncrease)/Decrease in trade receivables 
(lncrease)/Decrease in other non current assets 
(lncrease)/Decrease in inventories 
(lncrease}/Decrease in other financial assets -Current 
(lncrease)/Decrease in other financial assets -Non current 
(lncrease)/Decrease in other Bank Balance 
(lncrease)/Decrease in other current assets 
lncrease/(Decrease) in non-current assets held for sale 

lncrease/(Decrease) in trade payables 
increase/(Decrease) in long term provisions 
lncrease/(Decrease) in short term provisions 
increase/(Decrease) in other Financial liabilities 
lncrease/(Decrease) in other Non- Current Financial liabilities and other 
Non-Current Liabilities 
lncrease/(Decrease) in other current liabilities 

Cash lnfiow/(Outflow} from Operations 

Direct Taxes Paid 
Income Tax Paid 

Net Cash Inflow/ (Outflow} from Operation (A} 

B Cash Flow from Investing Activities 

Purchase or construction of Property, plant and equipment/ CWIP 
Proceeds on sale of Property, plant and equipment 
Renta l Income 
Deposits with bank not considered as cash and cash equivalent 
Loan Given to Subsidiary 
Loan Repaid by Subsidiary 
Interest Income 

Net cash generated from Investing activities (BJ 

C Cash Flow from Financing Activities 

Dividend Paid 

Net cash generated from Investing activities (CJ 
Net cash lncrease/(Decrease} In cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C} 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 
Effect of Exchange Rate changes on Cash and Cash Equivalent 
Cash and cash equivalents at t he end of the year 

Movement In cash balance 
Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents as per cash flow statement 
Cash and cash equivalents as per above comprise of the following 
Cash on hand 
Balances with banks 
On current accounts 

On deposits with original maturity upto 3 months - -

Year Ended 
31-03-2025 

639.08 

(590.17) 
0.05 

(13 .57) 
15.69 

50.41 
1,443.68 

(1,428.79) 
(44.14) 

(71.35) 
92.44 

(5,630.97} 
39.22 

(658.24) 
(2,032 .91) 

5.71 
39,075.41 
(1,710.30} 

3,678.42 
(26.45) 

(37,787.15) 

232.58 
1,124.66 

1,095.00 

(932.31) 
0.03 

44.14 
(418.17) 

(13. 79) 

891.04 

(2,161.39) 

10,0B3.53 
(69.32) 

93.33 
10,107.54 

29,087.92 

(32,777.94) 
6,417.52 

1,095.00 

5,322.52 

429.06) 
429.06 

(2,161.39) 
(2,161.39) 
2,732.07 
5,413.48 

(0.05) 
8,145.50 

26.74 

8,118.76 

8,145.50 

(? In lakh} 
Year Ended 
31-03-2024 

644.63 
8.70 

(286. 76) 

(13.57) 
59.79 
46.05 
31.46 

781.96 
(1,132 .30) 

(42.25) 
22.46 

0-02 
(14.35) 

315.50 

(522.77) 
(3.09) 

(260.80) 
(280.14) 

(lB.65) 
(13,440.89) 

(3,499.90) 

(593.80) 
(3,643.49) 

(756.73) 
13.960.10 

(135.32) 
(380.68) 

1,078.67 

(139.90) 
2.60 

42.25 
4,619.91 

(30.64) 
12.43 

391.51 

(1,886.93} 

10,423.06 
(104.26) 

421.34 
10,740.14 

(18,026.24} 

8.450.08 
1,163.98 

1,078.67 

85.31 

4,898.16 
4,898.16 

(1,886.93) 
(1,886.93) 
3,096.54 
2,316.94 

5,413.48 

26.28 

5,387.20 

5,413.48 

1. Cash And Cash Equivalents Consist Of Cash And Bank Balances Including FD's And Liquid Investments 
2. The Above Statement Of Cash Flows has be!:D..p ared under the Indirect Method as set out in Ind AS 7 Statement Of Cash Flows. notified U/s 
133 Of Companies Act, 2013 ("Act") read,._,,, ~,~ ,e.'fl= e Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules 2015 and the relevant provision of 
3. 



Notes: 

1 The Standalone Financial Results for the Quarter and year ended March 31, 2025 are as per the notified Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) under the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 
2015 (as amended) under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013. These Standalone Financial Results including report on Operating Segment were placed before the Audit Committee in their meeting 
held on May 30, 2025. At present. t here is only one Independent Director in the Company, hence, the quorum of audit committtee is not as per provisions of SEBI LODR, which requires atleast two 
Independent Directors. The Company is regularly following up with its Administrative Minist-y for appointment of requisite number of Independent Directors in the Company. 

Due to not having the required quorum in audit committee, the standalone financial results were forwarded to the Board of Directors. The same were approved by the Board of Directors. in their meeting 
held on May 30. 2025. 

2 The financial results have been audited by M/s HDSG & Associates, Chartered Accountants as required under Regulations 33 of SEBI (Listing and Disclosure Requirement) Regulations, 2015. 

3 Pursuant rn a decision of the Government of India, it was decided that the Ministry of Tourism will examine the proposal for Sale/ Lease of Hotel Properties of the Company including Properties of 
Subsidiary Companies. In the cases where Hotel properties are located on State Govt Leased Land and the State is reluctant to extend the lease and allow it to be sub-leased to the private party, then the 
property may be offered to the State Govt at its officially valued price. According to this decision the process of disinvestment is carried on as under: 

a. Hotel Ashok (Unit of ITDC): 
DIPAM has appointed Transaction Advisor for studying lease terms & conditions of land, explore the possibilities of giving Hotel Ashok on operation & management (O&M)/ Sub-leasing and optimum 
utilisation of vacant/ unused land in Hotel Ashok-Samrat Complex. 

Recently meeting was held with Niti Aayog wherein it was discussed to go through PPPAC route. IIT Roorkee has been engaged for conducting a detailed structural analysis of hotel building for checking 
the remaining life. Report on Structural analysis by IIT Roorkee has been received. 

Draft PPPAC documents, i.e., Memorandum for PPPAC Committee along with Draft Concessionaire Agreement (DCA). Draft Request for Proposal (RFP) and Draft Request for Qualification (RFQ) have been 
received from the Consultant and the same will be put up to the Board for consideration and approval. 

b. Hotel Janpath (erstwhile Unit of ITDC): 
Ministry of Tourism (MoT) has communicated vide their letter dtd. June 14, 2017 to !TDC that "the Cabinet Committee on Economic Affairs (CCEA) in its meeting held on May 24, 2017, has in-principle 
approved the proposal of the MoT for transferring the property of Hotel Janpath (Managed Property since owned by MoUD) to the Ministry of Urban Development (MoUD) and for compensating !TDC for 
loss of business opportunity with disputed liability to be sorted out.· The final amount of compensation for loss of business opportunity is under consideration in MoT. 

The operations of Janpath Hotel, New Delhi was closed or. October 31, 2017 and Land & Building of the Hotel has been handover to MoHUA (erstwhile MoUD) on May 16, 2019. 

c. Kosi Restaurant (Unit of !TDC): 
The operation of Kosi Restaurant, a unit managed by the Company had been closed on October 31, 2017. The Ministry of Tourism has been requested to take possession of the Restaurant building. 
Meanwhilz, notice was received from the office of Ziledaar, Apar Khand Agra Naher, Mathura stating that Department of Irrigation, Mathura is the owner of t he land on which !TDC was running Kosi 
Restaurant. !TDC vide letter dated September 4, 2024 requested Minsitry of Tourism to take over the Kosi property subject to U.P. Govt. waiving the penalty/fines etc. in connection with the notices 
received and !TDC will waive the security expenses etc. incurred by it for safety and maintenance of the property. 

d . Hotel Kalinga Ashok, Bhuvaneshwar (Unit of ITDC): 
RFP floated in 2017, 2018 and 2019 but remained unsuccessful. !MG in the meeting held on March 6, 2020 decided to retender with revised selection criteria . In the !MG meeting held on March 4, 2021, 
TA presented the revised selection criteria . IMG directed the !TDC officials to do the road show with the revised parameters and apprise of the result/ inputs. Roadshow has been conducted and report 
from TA was presented to the IMG in the meeting held on September 7, 2021. IMG decided that a letter may be sent-to the State Government seeking permission for sub-leasing of property and for 
increasing the lease tenure for developing the property on PPP model. Meeting was held with State Govt. and State Govt. reiterated the concerned fee for sub leasing permission. The !MG decided that if 
State Govt. is interested to take back the property, the matter may be discussed with the State Govt. 

!MG was apprised that in the meeting held on September 6, 2022 between the Chief Secretary, Odisha and MD-ITDC, !TDC was requested to send the terms & conditions for transfer of land and building 
of Hotel Kalinga Ashok to the Govt. of Odisha. !MG directed that Govt. of Odisha and !TDC to discuss mutually on the terms of t ransfer and apprise the result to the !MG in the next meeting. 

Proposal from TA (M/s CBRE) regarding terms of transfer of property were approved by !TDC Board in its meeting and a letter was sent from Secretary (Tourism) to Chief Secretary (Odisha) . Reply is 
awaited. 

In the Boc1rd Meeting held on February 13, 2025, Board advised that if Govt. of Odisha is not responding to the decision of the !MG for taking over properties in Ddisha at mutually decided value, ITDC 
may move the proposal to the !MG to develop these properties commercially through private party and may approach to Odisha Govt. to buy the leased land of these properties to get the unfettered 
rights on the land . In this connection~ ITDC m suit the existing TA M/s CBRE. Accordingly. M/s CBRE was approached and they had visited the properties in the first week of April, 2025. Report tr_om 
M/s CBRE is awaited. ./~ 

e. Investment in Subsidiary Companies q; 
The process of disinvestment/ divest c iect of: Hotel Pondicherry Ashok, Puducherry and Hotel Neelanchal Ashok, Puri. 

\ f¾/ 



f . Investment in Hotel Project - Hotel Anandpur Sahib. Anandpur Sahib - Subsidiary Companies: 
In the IMG meet ing held on September 22. 2022. IMG approved the val;;ation of~ 79 39 lakh for transfer 51% equity of ITDC in the Punjab Ashok Hotel Company Limited to the PTDC/ Govt. of Punjab. The 
share t ransfer agreement will be executed after the CCEA/AM approval and receipt of funds from the Punjab Government. MoU signed on February 14. 2023. 

g. Investment in Hotel Ranchi Ashok, Ranchi (RABHCL) - Subsidiary Company of ITDC: 
MoU for transfer of 51% equity stake of ITDC in RABHCL to Govt. of Jharkhand signed on November 24. 2020. Consideration for an amount of~ 942.5 1 lakh has been received on December 28, 2020 
including settled price of~ 306.00 lakh, against investment in shares. 

VRS was offered thrice and out of 32 employees. presently there are 6 employees, the rest have taken VRS/ Super Annuated . Salaries and ot her terminal benefits of employees are due, i.e.,~ 172.32 lakh 
as at March 31, 2025. Employees of the Hotel had been repeatedly threatening of self immolation with their families due to non receipt of their legitaimate dues. 

Upon request from Subsidiary company, ITDC has disbursed loan of t 613.44 lakhs to clear the outstanding dues of employees. Dues upto June 2022 have been cleared. A proposal for the fourth t ime 
VRS for -remaining employees of RABHCL has been sent to the MoT vide letter dated February 23, 2023 for approval, which is under process. Loan and all other dues of~ 1,029.83 lakh are receivable upto 
March 31, 2025 (Previous Year~ 960.07 lakh). 

DIPAM advised for taking approval of Alternative Mechanism (AM) instead of CCEA Note. As advised by MoT, Note for approval of AM has been sent to MoT on September 4, 2024. Property will be 
transferred after AM approval and after receiving all residual dues from Jharkhand Govt. The financial statements of RABHCL have been incorporated treating the same as Subsidiary for the year ended 
March 31. 2025. 

4 Hotel Jammu Ashok (Unit of ITDC): 
40 years lease period of the land expired in January 2010. ITDC had first requested for an extension in February 2007. ITDC repeatedly requested State Government for renewal but the renewal of land 
lease remained pending with the State Government. 

Govt. of J & K vide letter dated March 20, 2020, informed about non-renewal of lease and resumption of land by the State Govt. Pursuant to the Board decision, Operation of Hotel was closed on June 17, 
2020 and employees were offered VRS. Those who did not opt VRS, were adjusted in other units of ITDC. 

Matter was pursued with the State Govt. for taking possession of the Hotel after payment of compensation in accordance with clause 3 (ii) of the lease deed. In the IMG meeting held on September 22, 
2022, IMG approved the Valuation for transfer of all property, plant and equipment items constructed by ITDC on the leased land on "As is where is basis" . 

The same was agreed by Govt. cf J & K. Handing over to take place immediately after CCEA/AM approval and receipt of consideration amount from the Govt. of J & K. MoU with Govt. of J & K signed on 
February 9, 2023. Revised Draft CCEA Note sent to the Ministry of Tourism on October 25, 2023. MoT has circulated the Draft CCEA Note for Inter Ministerial Consultations. DIPAM advised to take 
approval of Aiternative Mechanism in place of CCEA. Accordingly, note for Alternative Mechanism has been sent to MoT on August 29, 2024. Administrative expenses pertaining to Hotel Jammu Ashok had 
been considered as a part of discontinued operations in the financia l statements for the quarter and year ended March 31, 2025. 

5 ITDC's merger with Kumarakruppa Frontier Hotels Pvt. Ltd.: 
ITDC Board in its meeting held on December 12, 2019 has accorded in-principal approval to the merger of Kum3rakruppa Frontier Hotels Pvt. Ltd. (KFHPL) with ITDC. ITDC has requested Ministry of 
Tourism (MoT) vide letter dated December 30, 2019 to consider·the proposal for onward approvals from DIPAM, Ministry of finance/ CCEA. etc. MoT vide letter dated September 14, 2020 requested 
DIPAM. Ministry of Finance to gran~ approva l in connection with merger of KFHPL with ITDC. The Matter is still under consideration at end of MoT/DIPAM. 

6 Ashok Travels and Tours (ATT) Revenue Recognition: 
During the review of revenue recognition of Package Tour Operations (inc. Transport & Hotel) of Ashok Travels & Tours. New Delhi (ATT), it was observed that income was being recognised on Gross 
Basis. however. as per the terms of contract, ATT was acting purely as an agent. Hence. in compliance to the requirements of Ind AS 115. revenue and cost of services are adjusted for an amount of ~ 
3,118.40 lakh for F.Y. 2024-25 and previous year figures have been similarly adjusted for an amount of~ 2,271.31 lakh. 

7 Participation in Mahakumbh, Prayagraj 2025 - Luxury Tent Accommodation Project 
ITDC. through its d ivision - Ashok Travels & Tours (ATT). New Delhi. successfully undertook a prestigious project to provide luxury tent a<:commodation and allied facilities during Mahakumbh 2025 in 
Prayagraj. 

A land parcel was allocated to ITDC for the execution of this project. To carry out the operations efficiently, the project was executed through one of ATT's empaneled General Sa les Agents {GSA). 

Considering the special nature of assignment and business involved, ITDC has engaged an independent Chartered Accountant {CA) firm to conduct reconciliation. verification, and certification of the 
project accounts. Based on the interim report of the CA Firm and further approvals by competent authority, income and expense have been recognised in the financials for the period ended March 31, 
2025. The project concluded successfully, result ing in a positive financial outcome. 

~ ~ 



8 NDMC - Property Tax 
The dispute between ITDC Hotels (Ashok, Samrat. Janpath) and NDMC spans several years, wit h significant developments in recent legal proceedings. NDMC f inalized the assessment aga inst a court case 
filed by !TDC, up to the financial year 2008-09. ITDC accepted the assessment and made the payment accordingly . However. the dispute escalated from the financial year 2009-10 onwards when NDMC 
implemented the un,t area method for taxation , resulting in notices and assessments for 2009-10 to 2024-25 under New Annual Rent Bye Law 2009. The assessment done by the NDMC on very high side 
in comparison with the previous year's assessment. Various associations. including ITDC, challenged the unit area method in the Hon'ble High Court of Delhi, which was eventually struck down on August 
10, 2017. NDMC then filed a Special Leave Petition (SLP) in the Hon'ble Supreme Court of India, which upheld the judgment of the Hon'ble High Court of Delhi on January 27. 2019. 

Despite the dismissal of NDMC's appeal by the Hon'ble Supreme Court of India, NDMC reassess the hotels on comparable rent under section 63(1 ) of NDMC Act 1994. The Hon'ble High Court vide it's 
order dated December 18, 2024 observed that the NDMC/ Petitioner's grievance stands satisfied. The writ petitions. alongwith pending applications, are therefore disposed of in terms of the aforesaid 
statement on behalf of NDMC and the rights and contentions of the parties in respect to any fresh assessment orders that NDMC may press are left open. 

Various representations were submitted to NDMC. ITDC has assessed property tax liability amounting at? 9,867.00 lakh (Hotel Ashok and Hotel Samrat) upto F.Y. 2023-24. The matter is under discussion 
with NDMC for settlement. During the current year. an amount of? 8,243.00 lakh has been considered in the Books of Accounts (? 658.00 lakh considered in F.Y. 2024-25, ? 509.00 lakh in F.Y. 2023-24 
and? 7,076.00 lakh adjusted against the opening reserves). 

9 Private Licencees of Hotel and Catering Units of ITDC, i.e .. Hotel Ashok (New Delhi). Hotel Samrat (New Delhi) and Taj Restaurant (Agra) had made request for waiver of licence fees for the lockdown 
period during F.Y. 2020-21. Keeping in mind the business scenario and considering the impact on cash flow, bills were not generated against most of the Private Licensees amounting to? 1,292 .59 lakh 
upto September, 2020 and hence, not considered in the Financial Results. ITDC Board discussed that the grievances of Licences are genuine but it is also a fact that ITDC is a commercial organization and 
has been paying taxes. charges etc. despite lockdown without any exemption being granted to ITDC by any Statutory Organization. The matter is refer red to MoT for their consideration. 

10 The Company identifies suppliers registered under the MSME Act, 2006, by obtaining confirmation from all suppliers at the time of tender and information has been collated only to the extent of 
information received. 

11 The Board of Director has recommended of final dividend of? 2.90 per share (Face Value? 10 per share) . 

12 Earning per share is not annualized for the quarter and year ended March 31, 2025, December 31, 2024, and March 31, 2024. 

13 Details of shareholders who have not claimed dividend for F.Y. 2023-24, 2022-23, 2018-19 and 2017-18 have been given on t he ITDC website under Investor Corner. Further detai ls of shareholders who 
have not claimed dividend for last seven consecutive years and whose shares have been transferred to the IEPF. have also been given in the ITDC website under Investor Corner. For claiming t he 
unclaimed dividend and unclaimed shares, shareholders are requested to contact immediately: 
Compliance Officer: Mr. V. K. Jain at ITDC HQ address 
Email : vkjain@itdc.co .in; Mobile No. 9650444533 

14 The figures for the quarter ended March 3 1, 2025 are the balancing figures between t he audited f igures in respect of t he full financial year ended on that date and published year to date figures upto the 
third quarter of the said financial year. 

15 Figures of the previous reporting periods have been re-grouped/ re-classified wherever necessary to correspond with the figures of the current reporting period. 

Date: 30.05.2025 
Place: New Delhi 

For India Tourism Development Corporation Limited 

~w 
(Lokesh Kumar Aggarwal) 
Director (Finance) & CFO 

DIN No: 09714805 

~ 



HDSG & Associates 
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 
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Independent Auditor's Report on Consolidated Audited Financial Results for the 
Quarter and Year ended March 31 , 2025 of India Tourism Development 
Corporation Limited Pursuant to the regulation 33 of the SEBI (Listing Obligations 
and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, as amended. 

To 
The Board of Directors 
India Tourism Development Corporation Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Results 

Qualified Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying Statement of Consolidated quarterly and Annual 
Financial results of India Tourism Development Corporation Limited ("Holding 
company") and its subsidiaries (the Holding company and its subsidiaries together 
referred to as "the Group "), for the quarter ended March 31, 2025 and for the year 
ended March 3 1, 2025("Statement" ), attached herewith, being submitted by the Holding 
Company pursuant to the requirement of Regulation 33 of the SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, as amended ("Listing 
Regulations"). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations 
given to us, and based on the consideration of the reports of the other auditors on 
separate audited financial statements and financial information of subsidiaries except 
for possible effects of the matters described in the basis of qualified opinion section, 
emphasis of matters and other matters of our report. The Statements : 

i) includes the results of the followings Subsidiaries. 

S.no Name of Company Percentage of 
Shareholding 

A Punjab Ashok Hotel Company Limited * 51 % 
B Ranchi Ashok Bihar Hotel Corporation 51 % 

Limited** 
C Utkal Ashok Hotel Corporation Limited*** 91.54 % 
D Pondicherry Ashok Hotel Corporation 51 % 

Limited 

* Business not commenced. 
** Non-operational w .e.f. 01.04.20 18 under transfer of shares 
*** Non-operational w.e.f. 31.03.2004 

E-21, Basment, Jangpura Ext., New Delhi - 110014, (lNDIA) 

E-mail : hdsg@hdsgindia.com, hsg@hdsgindia.com 

Website : www.hdsgindia.com 



ii) are presented in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 33 of the Listing 
Regulations, as amended; and 

iii) give a true and fa ir view in confo rmity with the applicable Ind ian accounting 
standards (Ind AS) and other accounting principles generally accepted in India of the 
consol idated total comprehensive income ( comprising of net profit and other 
comprehensive income) and other financial information of the group and its jointly 
controlled entities for the quarter ended 31st March 2025 and for the period from 1st 
April, 2024 to 3 1st March, 2025 . 

Basis for Qualified Opinion 

A. MSMED Act Compliances: 

As per the information provided to us, the Holding Company has identified suppliers 
registered under the MSMED Act, 2006, by obtaining con firmation from suppliers 
and information has been collated to the extent of information received. 

In the absence of the requisite audit evidence, we are unable to determine the delay in 
making payment to MSME entities, liability of interest and compliance on such 
delayed payments in terms of provisions of MSMED Act. 

B. Revenue from License fee 

The Holding Company has not generated invoices for license fees on licensees of 
units, viz. Ashok Hotel , Sarnrat Hotel & Taj Restaurant (units ofITDC) to the tune of 
Rs. 1,292.59 lakhs during the year 2020-2 1 on account of Covid- 19 pandemic, and 
hence not considered in Books of Accounts. The matter is sti ll under consideration 
before the board of Directors of ITDC. Thus, the sale of serv ices from license fees 
and trade receivables of the Holding Company continued to be understated to this 
extent. 

C. Ashok Tours and Travels (ATT) Delhi 
l. ATT had entered into a General Sales Agent (GSA) agreement with Mis Shree 

Plan Your Journey Pvt. Ltd. (SPYJ) in September 20 19 for marketing of its travel­

related business. Upon expiry of this agreement, SPYJ was again appointed as 

GSA through a fresh open tender process dated October 2 1, 2024. As per 

management, the terms and conditions of the new agreement are to be considered 

independently from the earlier arrangement. In respect of the GSA agreement 

dated September 20 19, we observed the following points: 

I. After the initial deposit of securi ty of Rs. 300.00 lakh. The said amount was 
,.,-::;;;;;;;.....;:;:::::-.... required to be increased additionally through the deposit of funds as and 

when required based on the business. As per the agreement, the evaluation 
is to be made by the Company on a monthly basis, and in case of its non-



compliance, the issue of all travel-related services would be stopped till 
funds are received. 
However, as at March 3 1, 2025, total amount receivable from the business 
conducted through the GSA amounts to Rs. 5,238.96 lakh, whereas, ATT 
has kept on 'HOLD' only an amount of Rs. 1,579.82 lakh in the form of 
security deposit, bank guarantee, commission and other services payable to 
cover the outstanding limit. Hence, there is a deficit which is not in 
consonance with the terms of the agreement ( dated September, 2019) and 
directive of the Board. 

II. We continue to observe that various conditions of the agreement with SPYJ 
were not complied &/or not enforced like credit limit, reconciliation, 
monthly evaluation, additional Bank Guarantee (BG) etc. Despite raising 
the issues in the previous years and also in the current year. There is 
periodical reconciliation of PLB from Airlines, identification of unlinked 
receipts, credit note delays, settlement of commission bills after receiving 
fu ll payment from SPYJ clients, compliance of SoP etc. Separate 
reconciliation for compliance towards old agreement was not available on 
record. Above mentioned deficiencies have repercussions on timely 
compliance of TDS and provisions under GST Act. 

In view of the circumstances stated in para I and II above we are unable to 
comment on the fina l outcome of non-compl iance of the terms of Agreement, 
compliance, reconciliation and/ or assessment of recoverability for the 
outstanding in the accounts pertaining to SPYJ and A TT customers and its 
consequential impact on the Consol idated Financial Statements. 

2. During the year 2024-25, ITDC through its division - Ashok Travels & Tours 
(A TT), undertook a prestigious proj ect to provide luxury tent accommodation 
and allied facilities during Maha Kumbh 2025 in Prayagraj. The project was 
executed through one of A TT's empanelled General Sales Agents (GSA) named 
Mis Zenith Leisure Holidays Ltd. further, Considering the special nature of 
assignment and business involved, ITDC has engaged, an independent Chartered 
Accountant (CA) firm to conduct reconciliation, verification, and certification of 
the project accounts and based on the interim report of such CA firm, income and 
expenses have been recognised in the financial statement for the period ended 
march 31 , 2025 . The outcome is subject to final report and reconciliation. (Refer 
point No.8 of note of Consolidated Financial Results) 

In the absence of the final report duly verified by the management not being made 
available to us, we were unable to verify the same hence in view of this the final 
impact of the same on the consolidated financial statement for the year ended 31st 
march 2025 could not be ascertained. 

T (ITDC) has entered into Memorandum of understanding (MoU)/ Travel 
vices Agreement (TSA) with its various customers comprising of mainly 



Ministries/Govt. Departments/ Government organizations for rendering travel 
related services of Domestic and International Air Ticketing at "00"/ Nil charge. 
Further an Office Memorandum (OM) was issued by MoF on 16th June, 2022 for 
non-levy of any agency charges/ convenience fee. In some of cases the company 
is not implement such clauses ofTSA and aforementioned (OM). 

In view of circumstances stated in para above, we are unable to comment on the 
final outcome of non- compliance of terms of MoU with ATT customers and its 
consequential impact thereof on the Consolidated Financial statement. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified 
under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are fiuther 
described in the Auditors ' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with 
the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) 
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements under the prov isions of the Act and the Rules there under, and we 
have fu lfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and 
the Code of Ethics . We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion, except as stated elsewhere in the 
report. 

Emphasis of Matter 

We draw attention to the following notes on the consolidated financial statements being 
matters pertaining to India Tourism Development Corporation Limited Requiring 
Emphasis by us: 

1. Disinvestments 

Pursuant to decision of the Government of India, that Ministry of Tourism is under 
process of examining the proposals of sale/lease of hotel properties of the Holding 
Company including properties of Subsidiary Companies. (Refer point No. 4,5 & 6 of 
note of consolidated Financial Results). 

2. Status of Joint Venture Company 

The Holding Company formed Joint Venture Company with Aldeasa of Spain by 

making of investment in 5000 equity shares of Rs. 10/- each, for which provision has 

been made for 100% diminution in value of investment. The said Company has been 

struck off by the Registrar of Companies and dissolved w.e.f. 2 1st Aug, 2017. The 

liability Rs.226.5 1 lakhs as on 31st March, 2024 is outstanding towards ITDC 

Aldeasa, includ ing amount deposited of Rs. l 08.3 8 lakhs. 

Further, the disclosure limited to t Y = =::u-:;•:_\L party as mentioned above and in 

the absence of required informati ~~~~~r~t? to identi fy ing such balances and 



transactions with other struck off parties (if any), we are unable to comment in 

absence of any audit evidence in this regard. 

3. Trade Receivables and Trade Payables 

• The Holding Company initiated balance confirmations for receivables and payables; 
however, responses were minimal, limiting the ability to perform reconci liations or 
assess the amount recoverable/ payable. As a result, the impact on the Consolidated 
Financial Statements is presently unascertainable. 

• Receivables include long-outstanding balances beyond credit terms without adequate 
recovery monitoring. Provisions have been made as per Company policy, including 
Rs 1,200.50 lakhs towards legal cases, though the overal l recovery process requires 
strengthening. 

• On the payables side, no system exists for confirmation and reconciliation of trade 
payable. Trade payables are bifurcated into MSME and others, but reconciliation 
status is assessed only where litigation exists. In the absence of sufficient audit 
evidence, we are unable to comment thereon and impact thereof on consolidated 
financial statements. is not ascertainable and quantifiable. 

4. Property tax 

There is a dispute regarding the assessment of property tax raised by NDMC for The 
Ashok Hotel, Samrat Hotel & Janpath Hotel. The order was challenged by ITDC by 
filing a writ petition with the Hon'ble High Court of Delhi, which was heard on 
September 25, 2020. NDMC issued demand cum attachment notices from time to 
time which a ll are chal lenged by lTDC before the Hon ' ble High Court of Delhi and 
hearings took place before the Hon' ble High Court of Delhi. As per latest court 
hearing on December 18, 2024, the Hon'ble High Court of Delhi had directed that 
both the parties should make an attempt to resolve the dispute amicably, 
consequently the company has again submitted the proposal on dated March 10, 
2025 after reassessment of property tax liabi lity up to F.Y. 2023-24 of Rs. 9868.00 
lakhs for the Hotel Ashok & Hotel Samrat to NDMC. (Refer point No.9 of note of 
Consolidated Financial Results). 

5. Unlinked receipts 

Unlinked receipts of Rs 221.82 Lakhs from debtors against billing by the Company, 

which could not be matched with the amount standing to the debit of the receivables 

is appearing as liabilities ·"Advance from Customers" in the Consolidated financial 

statements of the Company. To that extent, the Trade Receivables and CmTent 

Liabilities are overstated. 



6. Jnventory 

The consumption of stocks, stores, crockery, cutlery etc. of the Holding Company is 

being arrived by adding opening balances to the purchases and deducting therefrom 

closing balances as per practice being followed from the past. In absence of 

maintenance of proper record on day-to-day basis for Receipts, issues and closing 

balances, the shortage, scrap, m isuse or theft of inventory is not ascertainable and 

quantifiable. 

Further the valuation is continued in certain cases at cost instead of lower the cost or 

NRV in terms of policy of the Holding Company. Impact thereof is not ascertainable 

and quantifiable. 

7. TDS Receivable/income tax assessments 

TDS Receivable appearing in the books of accounts, for which reconciliation 

between books of accounts, 26AS, and claim made in Income Tax Returns is in 

progress. Correctness of TDS receivable could not be veri fied, and hence we are 

unable to ascertain the impact thereof in the consolidated financial statements. 

8. Loss/shortage of Property, Plant & Equipment 

Records for Property, Plant & Equipment (Fixed Assets) of the Holding Company 

are not properly maintained and updated at various units. Further, statements, 

wherever, prepared for physical verification has no base and as such verification is 

not capable of reconciliations either with the Books of Accounts or Fixed Assets 

Records, wherever, maintained. Hence impact of loss/ shortage/ scrap of assets 

remains indeterminable. 

9. Security deposit with DIAL 

At Ashok International Trade Division (AITD- A unit of ITDC), the sum of Rs. 
160.97 lakhs paid in the year 2006-07 as security deposit in the form of fixed deposit 
(FD) receipt in favour of Delhi International Airport Private Limited (DIAL) was 
shown as recoverable. The of FD was encashed during 2007-08 by DIAL on account 
of serv ice tax charged by DIAL in billing of service provided to the Holding 
Company. The management, after making due assessment, has made provision for 
doubtful debts in the F.Y. 2020-2 1. However, the matter is being disputed by the 
Company, as it was in the past. 



10. Samrat Hotel (A Unit of ITDC) 

At Samrat Hotel (a unit of ITDC), a licensee viz, Good Times Restaurant Pvt. ltd 
filed claim towards refund of licensee fee. A sum of Rs 904. 16 Lakhs has been 
deposited by the Holding Company as per interim orders of High Court dated 
24. 12.2020 (including interest). The matter is in appeal before Hon ' ble High Court, 
Delhi Good Times Restaurant Pvt. Ltd has also fi led an execution petition, 
proceedings whereof has been listed for 03.08.2022. Management is confident for no 
liability and hence no provision has been considered. 

11. Ashok Consultancy and Engineering Services (ACES) 

a) In Ashok Consultancy and Engineering Services (ACES- A unit of ITDC), out of 
total 85 projects ,56 projects were completed/closed but not closed in books of 
accounts as final bills were reportedly not received/settled. 

b) Dues recoverable from DDA 

MoU was signed between ITDC and ODA, as a special business dealing for 
furnishing DDA Flats with furniture and fixtures during Commonwealth Games 2010 
(CWG). Litigations were raised by the vendors/ parties engaged by ITDC (for supply 
of furniture & fixtures) , due to non-receipt of their ordered items by DDA. 
Subsequent payments were made by ITDC to vendors as per the Court Orders from 
time to time. Recovery proceedings were initiated by !TDC from ODA as per the 
MoU. Thereafter, the matter is under dispute between ITDC and DDA, and is further 
referred to Administrative Mechanism for Resolution of CPSE's Disputes 
(AMR.CD). Department of Public Enterprise (MoF) further issued a notification 
dated 10th February'2023 whereby a committee is formed to examine and submit its 
recommendations within the stipulated time period of three months from the date of 
notification of the committee. 
Total amount recoverable from DDA is Rs 1,882.09 lakhs (PY Rs 1,882.09 Lakhs). 

ITDC policy and practice adopted for provisioning of receivables, for transactions 
entered into during the normal course of business and the transaction entered is not 
covered under the same. The matter is under consideration before the AMRCD and 
the management is very confident of recovery of the amount involved, therefore, no 
provision was considered necessary as per the company policy. 

c) Ministry of Tourism has appointed ITDC as Central Nodal Agency for Central Sector 
Schemes from F.Y. 2022-23, i.e., Swadesh Darshan Scheme and PRASAD 
(Pilgrimage Rejuvenation and Spiritual Augmentation Drive) for monitoring over the 
expenditure limits allotted to the State Tourism Board and to resolve day to day 
queries raised by Sub Nodal Agency. The amount received against the same has been 
shown under earmarked balance on the face of the balance sheet s .alt nd 
corresponding amount is shown under ''other financial liability". 



12. Ashok Hotel (A unit of ITDC) 

Hotel The Ashok has allotted space to various licensees for business/office use. 
During the review, it has been observed that several licensees agreement have 
expired and are pending formal renewal. However, invoice continues to be CatTied 
out based on these expired agreement and corresponding revenue is being recognised 
in the books. 

13. Turnover of Ashok Travels & Tour (ATT), Delhi 

Turnover of Package Tour Operations (incl. Transport & Hotel) of Ashok Travels & 
Tours, New Delhi (A TT), was being shown on Gross Basis earlier, however, as per 
the terms of contract, A TT was acting purely as an agent. Company has reviewed its 
revenue recognit ion in compliance to Ind AS 11 5 and adjusted revenue and cost of 
services and previous year accordingly. However, there wi ll be no impact on the 
profitabili ty. (Refer point No.7 of note of Consolidated Financial Results) 

14. Legal / interest etc. on contingent liabilities 

Amount indicated as contingent liabilities/ claims against the holding company only 
reflects basic values. Legal, interest and other costs being indeterminable are not 
considered at this stage. 

15. The results have been prepared in accordance with applicable SEBI (Listing 

Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 as amended. It may be 

noted that since currently there is Single Independent Director on the Board ofITDC, the 

meeting of the Board Level Audit Committee cannot be held due to lack of quorum. 

Accordingly, the results were directly placed in the Board Meeting held on 30.05.2025 

and were reviewed & approved by the Board of Directors in this meeting. (Refer point 

No. I of note of Consolidated Financial Results) 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of these matters 

Other Matters 

A. Accounts not audited by us 
We did not audit the financial statements/ financial information /financial results of Four 
subsidiaries whose financial statements/financial information/ financial results reflect 
Total Assets of Rs. 1547.46 Lakhs (Previous Year Rs. 1506.36 Lakhs) as at 31st March 
2025, Total Revenues of Rs. 556 .57 Lakhs (Previous Year Rs. 583 .24 Lakhs), Total net 
profit/(Loss) after Tax of Rs. -2 11.30 Lakhs (Previous Year Rs. -222.37 Lakhs), Total 
comprehensive income/(Loss) of Rs. - 225 .35 Lakhs (Previous Year Rs. -208.62 Lakhs) 

_,,,~~l:::.Ll.1et increase/(decrease) in cash flows amounting to Rs. -49.24 Lakhs (Previous Year 
/ -->-"'=s~s" ·') 8.80 Lakhs)) for the year ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated 

~ financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 2025. These financial 



statements / financial information / financial results have been audited by other auditors 
whose reports have been furnished to us by the Management and our opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures 
included in respect of these subsidiaries and our report in terms of sub-sections (3) and 
(11) of Section 143 of the Act in so far as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries is based 
solely on the reports of the other auditors and the procedures performed by us as stated in 
para "Auditor's Responsibilities" below. 

B. Goods and Service Tax 

• The holding company has a mechanism for the collection of GST input and output 
data from the respective Delhi based unit on a monthly basis for the compilation 
and submission of GST returns and payment of GST taxes. which is being 
reconciled by the above units and Delhi head quarter time to time and the 
differences arises in such reconciliation are not being properly trace. 

• Further Holding Company has availed OST Input (ITC) on the invoices of the 
Creditors/Vendors but the same has not been surrendered back in case payment 
has not been made within 180 days. The amount whereof is not ascertainable and 
quantifiable in absence of due records. 

In both the above cases, GST liability has not been provided which will impact on the 
results of Consolidated Financial Statements, we are unable to ascertain/quantify in 
absence of audit evidence. 

C. NSE AND BSE Impose fine for non-compliance of Regulation 17(1) of SEBI 
During the financial year 2024-25, Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) and National Stock 
Exchange (NSE) have levied fines of Rs. 21.95 lakhs on ITDC for non-compliance of 
Regulation 17(1) of SEBI due to less number of required Independent Directors. ITDC 
has sent requests to Stock exchanges (BSE & NSE) for the waiver of such demands. 
Management is hopeful that the demand from BSE & NSE wi ll be waived and 
consequent contingent liability of such demands has been considered in the notes to the 
accounts. 

D. The Consolidated Annual financial statement includes the results for the quarter 
ended 31 March 2025 being the balancing figure between the audited figures in respect of 
the full financial year ended 3 l st March, 2025 and the published unaudited year to date 
figures up to the third quarter of the current financial year, which were subject to a 
limited review of 1st, 2nd & 3rd quarter by us as required under the Listing Regulations 
and we had expressed quali fied opinion respectively on these results/ financial 
statements. 

Our opinion is not modified with respect of above matters 



Management's Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Results 

The statement has been prepared on the basis of the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 31st March2025. The Holding Company's Board of Directors are 
responsible for the preparation and presentation of these consolidated Ind AS financial 
results that give a true and fair view of the net profit and other comprehensive loss and 
other financial information of the group including its jointly controlled entities in 
accordance w ith the recognition tmd measurement principles laid down in lndian 
Accounting Standard (Ind AS) prescribed under Section 133 of the Act read with 
relevant rules issued thereunder and other accounting principles generally accepted in 
India and in compliance with Regulation 33 of the Listing Regulations. The respective 
Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group .and of its jointly controlled 
entities are responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the . assets of the Group and of its 
jointly controlled entities and for preventing and detecting fraudf. and other 
irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making 
judgrnenrs and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and de.,ign, implementation 
and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively 
for ensuring lhe accuracy and completeness of the accounting records; relevant to the 
preparation and presentation of the statein ent that •give a true and fair view and are free 
from material misstatement, whether· due to fraud or errol', which have· been used for 
the purpose of preparation of the statement by the Dit'ectors of the holding company, as 
aforesaid. · · 

In preparing the statement, the respective Board of Directors of the cornpahies i•ncluded 
in the··group and its jointly controlled entities are responsible for assessing the ability of 
the ·group and iL jointly controlled entities to continue as a ·going concern~· disclosing, 
us ·applicable, 'matters related to going coricerff and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the respective· Board of Directors either intends · to liquidate the 
Gn:,uiJ or to ·cease operations, or has no realistic alternative hut to do so. 

The respec1ive Board of Directors of the companies ii1cluc!ed in· the group and of its 
jointly controlled entities are responsible for overseeing the financial reporting pr6ccss 
of the group and of its jointly controlled entities. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financfal Results · 

Our objectives are · to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the sfaterrie1it as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whethc1· due to fraud or error; ·and to issue 
an auditor's 1:eport that includes our· opinion. Reasonable assurance is a hrgh·tcvel of 
ass't'.1rance, but is not a guarantee that 'an audit conducted in• accordance with SAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or· e1ior and are ~orisidered material if, individually · or in the, aggregate; they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the ecori.omic de•cisions ·of users taken on the 
basis of the statement. · 

I • 



As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise profess ional judgement and 
main tain profess ional skeptic ism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the statement, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances under section 143(3) (i) of 
the Act, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Group has in 
place adequate internal financial control with reference to financial statement and the 
operating effectiveness of such contro l. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting pol icies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors' use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doub t on the ability of the Group and its jointly controlled entities to continue as a 
going concern. lf we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial results 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group and its jointly controlled entities to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overal l presentation, structure and content of the statement, including 
the disclosures, and whether the statement represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial results/financial 
information of the entities ,,vi thin the Group and its jointly controlled entities to express 
an opinion on the statement. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the audit of financial information of such entities included in the 
statement of which we are the independent auditors. For the other entities included in 
the statement, which have been audited by other auditors, such other auditors remain 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audits carried out by 
them. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, includin any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 



We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have 
complied with relevant eth ical requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate w ith them a ll re lationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

We also performed procedures in accordance with the circular issued by the SEBI 
under Regulation 33(8) of the Listing Regulations, as amended, to the extent 
applicable. 

For HDSG & Associates 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm Registration No: 0 871N 

CA arbir · 
Partner 
Membership No: 084072 
UDIN: 2. ')OiYo":t-i.13M.1...VL -"J3'S'8f 

Place: New Delhi 
Date: 30.05.2025 



INDIA TOURISM DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LTD. 
Regd, Officg : Scoge Comglex Core 8, 6th Floor,7 Lodhi Road, New Delhi - 110003, 

Telefax No. 011-24360249, Website - www.theashokgroug.com, CIN No. -L7489~DL19§5~O1004363 
Statement Of Audited Financial Results For The Quarter and Year Ended On 31st March, 2025 

(r in Lakhs) 
CONSOLIDATED CONSOLIDATED 
Quarter Ended For the year ended 

SI.No. Particulars 
31.03.2025 31.12.2024 31.03.2024 31.03.2025 31.03.2024 
(Audited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited) 

I Revenue from Operations 19,993.91 14,353.35 14,105.09 57,039 .73 50,888.45 
II Other Income 456.11 676.95 642.97 2,097.11 1,864.18 
Ill Total Income (1+11) 20,450.02 15,030.30 14,748.06 59,136.84 52,752.63 

IV Expenses 
(a) Cost of materials consumed 8,106.52 4,368.59 3,468.88 19,363.99 13,881.33 
(b) Purchase of stock-in-trade 1 ,041.97 - 691.17 1,041.97 691.17 
(c ) Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress and stock-in-trade (542.34) - (90.72) (542.34) (90.72) 
(d) Employees benefit expenses 2,598.87 2,618.30 2,741.84 9,916.95 10,285.73 
(el Finance Cost 36.75 32.88 260.51 100.36 323.40 
(fl Depreciation & amortisation expenses 160.59 181.56 148.41 661.96 668.29 
(q) Operating Expenses 5,568.94 4,826.62 4,837.11 18,716.62 16,770.66 
Total Expenses (IV) 16,971.30 12,027.95 12,057.20 49,259.51 42,529.86 

V Profit/(loss) from Operations before exceotional items (Ill-IV)) 3,478.72 3,002.35 2,690.86 9,877.33 10,222.77 
VI Exceptional Items [Net Income/ (Expense)] - - 8.52 - 8.70 
VII Profit/(Loss) before tax (V-VI) 3,478.72 3,002.35 2,682.34 9,877.33 10,214.07 
VIII Tax expense - - - - -

(a) Current Tax 1,144.50 866.63 652.50 3,010.87 2,773.91 
(bl Tax Written Back (Previous Year) (7.66) 76.06 (10.07) 68.40 (38. 74) 
(cl Deferred Tax (156.82) (15.66) 979.56 (1,337.10) 986.48 

IX Profit/(Loss) from Continuing Operation after tax (VII-VIII ) 2,498.70 2,075.32 1,060.35 8,135.16 6,492.42 
X Profit/(Loss) from Discontinued Ooeration (21.44) (15.04) (74.41) (69.31) (104.26) 
Y.I Tax exoense of Discontinued Ooeration (5.18) (3.70) (8.46) (16.94) (15.97) 
XII Profit/(Loss) from Discontinued Operation after tax (X-XI) (16.26) (11.34) (65.95) (52.37) (88.29) 
XIII Profit/(Loss) for the period (IX+XII) 2,482.44 2,063.98 994.40 8,082.79 6,404.13 
XIV Share of Profit/(Loss) of Associates and fount Venture (Xll+XIII) - - - -
xv Profit after taxes, Share of Profit/(Loss) of Associates and Joint Venture 2,482.44 2,063.98 994 .40 8,082.79 6,404.13 
XVI Other Comprehensive Income - - -

(A) ( i) Items that w ill not be Reclassified to Profit or Loss (171.51) 79.12 108.53 (274.26) (56.87) 
(ii) Income Tax relatina to items that will not be Reclassified to Profit or Loss 36.51 (18.90) 58.98 65.46 17.79 

Other Comprehensive Income for the Per iod (135.00) 60.22 167.51 (208.80 ) (39.08) 
XVII Total Comprehensive Income for the Period (XV+XVI) 2,347.44 2,124.20 1,161.91 7,873.99 6,365.05 

Attributable to: 
Owners of the parent 2,376.31 2,137.17 1,165.63 7,945.73 6,421.08 
Non-Controlinq Interest (28.87) (12.97) (3.72) (71.74 ) (56.03) 

XVII I Profit for the Period attributable to: 
Owners of the parent 2,511 .31 2,076.95 998.12 8,154.53 6,460.16 
Non-Controlinq Interest (28.87) (12.97) (3.72) (71.74) (56.03) 
Pa id-Uc Equitv Share CaPital (8,57,69,400 Eauitv Shares of Face Value i 10 each) 8 ,576.94 8,576.94 8,576.94 8,576.94 8,576.94 

XIX Earnings per Equity Share (for continuing operations) 
(of r 10/- each ( not annualised ) -
(a) Basic (in ?) //("-,.(lo.As.,~"\, 2.91 2.42 1.24 9.48 7.57 
(bl Diluted (in~) - (f".:!/ ..... , C:..·'i 2.91 2.42 1.24 9.48 7.57 

xx Earnings per Equity Share (for d:~sHl rl'i.'I, 
(of r 10/- each ( not annualised ) ._ .. e\OP_~ 

""lions) 
~ 1~(lS:BY ~ ' (a) Basic (in ~ '""Irv/ ,, 
;\"i '' ;;., \ ' U,fl~."'. ,'," ~ I .. (0 .02) (0 .01) (0.08) (0.06) (0.10) 

(bl Diluted (in r) l'-l"e -" "'" _ft,_' ii. 11 1,.\''o) '- ·z~, (0.02) (0.01) (0.08) (0 .06) (0.10) 

XXI 
Earnings per Equity Share (for ~ \ tl ffl 1b1'f" ~-- g jlj ~6dAcco,W 
and continuing operations) (of i. .. -.:acn \ noJ lilll nl alised l -

(a) Basic (in r) \. ' ., "---"""" 7 J 2.89 2.41 1.16 9.42 7.47 
(bl Diluted (in r) '-.~./ ,.t\ 2.89 2.41 1.16 9.42 7.47 
(See accomoanvina not es) 

.__ • ~ y ( / -

·~ '""" 



INDIA TOURISM DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LIMITED 
Reporting of Segmen t-wise Revenu e. Results, Assets and Liabilties alon g with the quarterly results 

(? in Lakhs) 
CONSOLIDATED CONSOLIDATED 
Quarter Ended Year Ended 

SI.No. P articulars 
3 1.03.2025 31.12.2024 31.03.2024 31.03.2025 31.03.2024 
(Audited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited) 

1 Seg ment Revenue (Net sale/income) 
A Hotel Division 9,959.91 9,568.19 9,665.26 34,373.71 34,824.06 
B International Trade Division 360.39 379.33 463.67 1,323.99 1,587.29 
C Travels &Tours 2 ,584.45 568.05 797.68 4,653.94 2,997.97 
D Enqg,Consultancy Projects 2 ,142.14 503.41 369.01 3,250.55 2,611.04 
E Event Manaqement,Hospitalitv & Tourism Manaqement Institute & Others 5,403.66 4,011.32 3,452.68 15,535.18 10,732.5 1 

TOTAL 20,450.55 15,030 .30 14,748.30 59,137.37 52,752.87 

Net Sales/Income from Operation s 20,4 50.55 15,030.30 14 ,748.30 59,137.37 52,752.8 7 

2 Segment Results (Profit/(Loss b efore tax and interest) 
A Hotel Division 2,486.08 2,482.02 2,691.45 7,388.11 8,489.29 
B International Trade Division (94.37) 59.90 36.94 (130.38) 216.76 
C Travels &Tours 575.95 119.83 (3.56) 1,160.49 644.61 
D Enaa,Consultancv Projects and Creatives 9.20 70.94 188.30 59.98 l 10.1 1 
E Event Management.Hospitality & Tou.'ism Management Institute & Others 517.17 287.50 (44.69) 1,430.18 972.44 

TOTAL 3,494.03 3,020.19 2,868.44 9 ,908.38 10,433.21 
Less: i) Interest 36.75 32.88 260.51 100.36 323.40 

ii) Other Un-allocable Exoenditure net oif - - - - -
iii) Un-allocable Income - - - - -

Total Profit Before Tax 3 ,457.28 2,987.3 1 2,607.93 9 ,808.02 10,109.8 1 

3 Secnnent Assets 
A Hotel Division 10,621.36 16,632.03 11,692.41 10,621.36 11,692.41 
B International Trade Division 1,624.11 1,197.26 874.56 1,624.11 874.56 
C Travels & Tours 16,151.29 17,263.55 12,243.32 16, 151.29 12,243.32 
D Engg,Consultancy Projects 5,748.26 4,452.85 43,382.08 5,748.26 43,382.08 
E Event Management.Hospitality & Tourism Management Institute & Others 40,491.16 33,313.51 33,279.97 40,491.16 33,279.97 

Total Segment Assets 74,636. 18 72,859.20 1,01 ,472.34 74,636. 18 1,01,472.34 

4 Segment Liabilities 
A Hotel Division --JO ... 17,421.13 16,946.17 18,439.42 17,421.13 18,439.42 

~ &A ~ B International Trade Division /e~~ 412.99 404.29 520.50 412.99 520.50 

~ "'0,.,"~ Travels & Tours '&"/..<::f'~Q;. \~ 8,441.13 6,479.81 5,645.93 8,441.13 5,645.93 

(CA \ '-J)' Enaa ,Consultancy Projects Pl'- I • ,.. A' .,~ 7,439.26 6,216.35 45,498.82 7,439.26 45,498.82 
IB 1 Event Manaqement,Hospitali. ,'Malia !ill: n.t Institute & Others 5,693.10 1,581.57 1,851.7 1 5,693.10 1,851.71 

RN :0028 1rlJ: \; X .. --Rh -::-I 
NEW DEL 

/ ,~/) Total Seqment Liabilities \.' ~/J 39,407.61 ~n I 3 1,628.19 71 ,956.38 39,407.61 71,956.38 
"red Acco""~ " - I \,'\ J. , 

~ ~ 



INDIA TOURISM DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LIMITED 

Statement of Assets and Liabilities as required under Regulation 33 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirement Regulations, 2015) as under: 

Particulars 

ASSETS 
Non - Current Assets 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
Capital Work-In-Progress 
Intangible Assets 
Intangible Assets under development 
Financial Assets 

(i) Investments 
(ii) Other Financial Assets 

Deferred Tax Assets 
Other Non - Current Assets 
Tota l Non - Current Assets 
Current Assets 
Inventories 
Financial Assets 

(i) Trade Receivables 
(ii) Cash and Cash Equiva lents 
(iii) Other Bank Balances 
(iv) Other Earmarked Balance - CN.A 
(v) Loans 
(vi) Other Financial Assets 

Other Current Assets 
Non- Current Assets classified as held for sale 

Total Current Assets 
Total Assets 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Equity 
Equity Sha re Capital 
Other Equity 
Non Controlling Interest 
Total Equity 
Liabilities 
Non - Current Liabilit ies 
Financial Liabilities 

(i) Borrowings 
(ii) Trade Payables 

- total outstanding dues of micro 
enterprises and small enterprises 

- total outstanding dues of creditors 
other than micro enterprises and 
small enterprises 

(ii i) Other Financial Liabilities 
Provisions 
Deferred Tax Liabilities 
Government Grants 
Other Non - Current Liabilities 
Total Non-Current Liabilities 
Current Liabilities 
Financial Liabilities 

(i) Borrowings 
(ia) Lease Liabilities 
(ii) Trade Payables 

- total outstanding dues of micro 
enterprises and small enterprises 

- total outstanding dues of creditors 
other than micro enterprises and 
small enterprises 

(iii) Other Financial Liabilities 
Provisions 
Government Grants 
Other Current Liabilities 

Total Current Liabilities 
Total Liabi lities 

Equity and Liabill 

(~ in lakh) 
Consolidated 

As at 
31.03.2025 

't 

4,153.95 
546.20 

1.28 
15.00 

157.04 
4,588.62 

79.17 
9,541.26 

1,875.77 

11,970.52 
8,240.99 

13,754.84 
34.80 

14,763.37 
14,365.49 

89.14 
65,094.92 
74,636.18 

8,576.94 
27,801.45 
(1,149.82 
35,228 .57 

1,589.65 
297.77 

423.48 
456.63 

2,767.53 

63.49 

275.48 

12,132.86 
9,812.06 
3,019.41 

17.03 
11,319.75 

36,640 .08 
39,407.61 
74,636 .18 

fW/ 

As at 
31.03.2024 

4,043.95 
433.91 

6.50 
15.00 

1,181.32 
3,186.06 

61.15 
8,927.89 

1,268.24 

7,516.05 
5,558.21 

12,294.64 
39,110.13 

12,734.73 
13,973.30 

89.14 
92,544.44 

1,01,472.34 

8,576.94 
22,017.11 
(l.078.09) 
29,515.96 

1,747.28 
69.00 

444,19 
45.32 

2,305.79 

63.49 

224.06 

8,661.54 
47,734.51 

2,763.26 
17.03 

10,186.70 

69,650.59 
71,956.38 

1,01.472.34 



INDIA TOURISM DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LIMITED 
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2025 

Particulars 

A Cash flow from operating activities 

Net profit before tax (Continued Operations) 
Net profit before tax (Discontinued Operations) 
Adjustments for: 
Depreciation and amortisation 
Exceptional Item 
Provision no Longer required written back 
Profit/Loss on Foreign Exchange Variations 
Deferred Government Grant 
Other Non Cash Item 
Provision for Corporate Social Responsibility 
Write Off/ Depletion/ Provision for Inventories (Net) 
Write Off/ Provision for Doubtful Trade Receivables ( Net) 
Interest Income 
Rental Income 
Bad Debts/Advances Written Off 
(Gain)/ Loss on sale of fixed assets (net) 
Gain on financial Assets/ Llabilltes carried at amortised cost 
Finance Cost (Non Cash) 

Operating cash flows before working capital changes 
Changes in ogeratina assets and liabilities 

(lncrease)/Decrease in trade receivables 
(lncrease)/Decrease in other non current assets 
(lncrease)/Decrease in Inventories 
(lncrease)/Decrease in other financial assets -Current 
(lncrease)/Decrease in other financial assets -Non current 

(lncrease)/Decrease in other Bank Balance 
(lncrease)/Decrease in other current assets 
lncrease/(Decrease) in non-current assets held for sale 

lncrease/(Decrease) in trade payables 
lncrease/(Decrease) in long term provisions 
lncrease/(Decrease) in short term provisions 
lncrease/(Decrease) in other Financial liabilities 
lncrease/(Decrease) in other Non- Current Financial liabilities 
and other Non-Current Liabilities 
lncrease/(Decrease) in other current liabilities 

Cash lnflow/(Outflow) from Operations 

Direct Taxes paid 
Income Tax Paid 

Net Cash Inflow/ (Outflow) from Operation (A) 

B cash Flow from Investing Activities 

Purchase or construction of Property, plant and equipment/ 
CWIP 
Proceeds on sale of Property, plant and equipment 
Rental Income 
Deposits with bank not considered as cash and cash 
equivalent 
Interest Income 

Net cash generated from Investing activities (B) 

C Cash Flow from Financing Activities 

Dividend Paid 

Net cash generated from Financing act ivities (C) 

Net cash lncrease/(Decrease) In cash and cash equivalents 
(A+B+C) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 
Effect of Exchange Rate changes on Cash and Cash Equivalent 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 
Movement in cash balance 

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents as per cash 
flow statement 
Cash and cash equivalents as per above comprise of the following 
Cash on hand 
Balances with banks 
On current accounts 

On deposits with original maturity upto 3 months - -

1. Cash And Cash Equivalents Consist Of Cash And Rank Balances 

Year Ended 
31-03-2025 

661.96 

(590.17) 
0.05 

(20.70) 
15.69 

50.41 
1,432.51 

(1,255.36) 
(44.14) 

0.99 
(71.35) 
273.87 

(5,604.94) 
39.22 

(657 .92) 
(2,033.87) 

5.71 

39,033.30 
(1,746.09) 

3,689.39 
(47 .14) 
15.78 

(37,926.17) 

232.58 
1,135.15 

1,112.47 

(962.21) 
0.03 

44.14 

(418.17) 
896.12 

(2,161.39) 

9,877.33 
(69.32) 

453.76 
10 261.77 

29,035.42 

(32,900.41) 
6,396 .78 

1,112.47 
5,284.31 

(440.09) 
(440.09) 

(2,161.39) 
(2,161.39) 

2,682.83 

5,558.21 
(0.05) 

8 240.99 

27.36 

8,213.63 

8,240.99 

Year Ended 
(~ in lakh) 

31-03-2024 

668.28 
8.70 

(286.76) 

20.70 
59.79 
46.05 
31.46 

789.35 
(961 .38) 

(42.25) 
22.46 

0.14 
(14.35) 
323.40 

(502.61) 
(3.09) 

(260.80) 
(280.86) 

(18.65) 

(13,440.89) 
(3,557.22) 

(617 .61) 
(3,643.28) 

1779.08) 
13,590.39 

(135.32) 
(358.88) 

1,078.91 

(163.59) 
2.60 

42.25 

4,578.03 
566.79 

(1 ,886.93) 

10,214.07 
(104.26) 

665.59 
10 775.40 

118,064.12) 

8,056.22 
767 .50 

1,078.91 
(311.41) 

5,026.08 
5,026.08 

(1,886.93) 
(1,886.93) 

2,827 .74 

2,730.47 

5,558.21 

26.60 

5,531.61 

5 558.21 

2. The Above Statement ff Cash Flows has been prepared under the Indirect Method as set out in Ind AS 7 Statement of Cash Flows 



Notes: 

1 The Consolidated Financial Results for the Quarter and year ended March 31, 2025 are as per the notified Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) under the Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Ru les, 2015 (as amended) under Section 133 of the Companies Act. 2013. These Consolidated Financial Results including report on Operating Segment were placed before the 
Audit Committee in t heir meeting held on May 30, 2025. At present, there is only one Independent Director in the Company, hence. the quorum of audit committtee is not as per 
provisions of SEBI LODR, which requires atleast two Independent Directors. The Company is regularly following up with its Administ rative Ministry for appointment of requisit e number of 
Independent Directors in the Company. 

Due to not having the required quorum in audit committee, the standalone financial results were forwarded to t he Board of Directors. The same were approved by the Board of Directors. 
in their meeting held on May 30, 2025. 

2 The financial results have been audited by M/s HDSG & Associates. Chartered Accountants as required under Regulat ions 33 of SEBI (Listing and Disclosure Requirement) Regulations, 
2015. 

3 The Financial Results of the Subsidiary Companies. i .e., Punjab Ashok Hotel Company Ltd., Ranchi Ashok Bihar Hotel Corporation Ltd. , Utkal Ashok Hotel Corporation Ltd. and Pondicherry 
Ashok Hotel Corporation Ltd are audited and incorporated in the Consolidated Financial Results. 

4 Pursuant to a decision of the Government of India, it was decided that the Ministry of Tourism will examine the proposal for Sale/ Lease of Hotel Properties of the Company including 
Properties of Subsidiary Companies. In the cases where Hotel properties are located on State Govt Leased Land and the State is reluctant to extend the lease and allow it to be sub-leased 
to the private party, then the property may be offered to the State Govt at its officially valued price. According to this decision the process of disinvestment is carried on as under: 

a. Hotel Ashok (Unit of ITDC): 
DIPAM has appointed Transaction Advisor for studying lease terms & conditions of land, explore the possibil ities of giving Hotel Ashok on operation & management (O&Ml/ Sub-leasing and 
optimum utilisation of vacant/ unused land in Hotel Ashok-Samrat Complex. 

Recently meeting was held with Niti Aayog wherein it was discussed to go through PPPAC route. IIT Roorkee has been engaged for conducting a detailed structura l analysis of hotel 
bui lding for checking the remaining life. Report on Structural analysis by IIT Roorkee has been received. 

Draft PPPAC documents, i.e., Memorandum for PPPAC Committee along with Draft Concessionaire Agreement (DCA). Draft Request for Proposal (RFP) and Draft Request for Qualification 
(RFQ) have been received from the Consultant and the same will be put up to the Board for consideration and approval. 

b. Hotel Janpath (erstwhile Unit of ITDC): 
Ministry of Tourism (MoT) has communicated vide their letter dtd. June 14, 2017 to ITDC that "the Cabinet Committee on Economic Affairs (CCEA) in its meeting held on May 24, 2017, has 
in-principle approved the proposal of the MoT for transferring the property of Hotel Janpath (Managed Property since owned by MoUD} t o the Ministry of Urban Development (MoUD) and 
for compensating ITDC for loss of business opportunity with disputed liabil ity to be sorted out." The final amount of compensation for loss of business opportunity is under consideration in 
MoT. 

The operations of Jan path Hotel, New Delhi was closed on October 31, 2017 and Land & Building of the Hotel has been handover to MoHUA (erstwhile MoUD) on May 16, 2019. 

c. Kasi Restaurant (Unit of ITDC}: 
The operation of Kasi Restaurant. a unit managed by the Company had been closed on October 31, 2017. The Minist ry of Tourism has been requested -to take possession of the Restaurant 
building. Meanwhile, notice was received from the office of Ziledaar, Apar Khand Agra Naher, Mathura stating that Department of Irrigation, Mathura is the owner of the land on which ITDC 
was running Kasi Restaurant. ITDC vide letter dated September 4 , 2024 requested Minsitry of Tourism to take over the Kasi property subject to U.P. Govt. waiving the penalty/fines -etc. in 
connection w ith the notices received and ITDC will waive the security expenses etc. incurred by it for safety and maintenance of the property. 

d. Hotel Kalinga Ashok, Bhuvaneshwar (Unit of ITDC): 
RFP floated in 2017, 2018 and 2019 but remained unsuccessful. IMG in the meeting held on March 6, 2020 decided to retender with revised selection criteria . In the IMG meeting held on 
March 4, 2021, TA presented the revised selection criteria. IMG directed the ITDC officials to do the road show with the revised parameters and apprise of the result/ inputs. Roadshow has 
been conducted and report from TA was presented to the IMG in the meeting held on September 7, 2021. IMG decided that a letter may be sent to t he State Government seeking 
permission for sub-leasing of property and for increasing the lease tenure for developing the property on PPP model. Meeting was held with State Govt. and State Govt. reiterated the 
concerned fee for sub leasing permission. The IMG decided that if State Govt. is interested to take back the property, the matter may be discussed with the State Govt. 

IMG was apprised that in the meeting held on September 6, 2022 bet ween the Chief Secretary, Odisha and MD-ITDC, ITDC was requested to send t he terms & condit ions for transfer of 
land and building of Hotel Kalinga Ashok to the Govt. of Odisha. IMG directed that Govt. of Odisha and ITDC to discuss mutually on the terms of transfer and apprise the result to the IMG in 
the next meeting. 

\ iv1 



Proposal from TA (M/s CBRE) regarding terms of transfer of property were approved by ITDC Board in its meeting and a letter was sent from Secretary (Tourism) to Chief Secretary 
(Odisha). Reply is awaited . 

In the Board Meeting held on February 13, 2025. Board advised that if Govt. of Odisha is not responding to the decision of the IMG for taking over properties in Odisha at mutually decided 
value. ITDC may move the proposal to the IMG to develop these properties commercial ly through private party and may approach t o Odisha Govt. to buy t he leased land of these 
properties to get the unfettered rights on the land. In this connection, ITDC may consu lt the existing TA M/s CBRE. Accordingly, M/s CBRE was approached and they had visited the 
properties in the first week of April. 2025. Report from M/s CBRE is awaited. 

e. Investment in Subsidiary Companies of !TDC: 
The process of disinvestment/ divestment is going on in respect of: Hotel Pondicherry Ashok, Puducherry and Hotel Neelanchal Ashok, Puri. 

f . Investment in Hotel Project - Hotel Anandpur Sahib, Anandpur Sahib - Subsidiary Companies: 
In the IMG meeting held on September 22, 2022, IMG approved the valuation of <' 79.39 lakh for transfer 51 % equity of ITDC in the Punjab Ashok Hotel Company Limited to t he PTDC/ Govt. 
of Punjab. The share transfer agreement will be executed after the CCEA/AM approval and receipt of funds from the Punjab Government. MoU signed on February 14, 2023. 

g. Investment in Hotel Ranchi Ashok, Ranchi (RABHCL) - Subsidiary Company of ITDC: 
MoU for transfer of 51 % equity stake of ITDC in RABHCL to Govt. of Jharkhand signed on November 24, 2020. Consideration for an amount oft 942.51 lakh has been received on December 
28 , 2020 including settled price oft 306.00 lakh, against investment in shares. 

VRS was offered thrice and out of 32 employees. presently there are 6 employees. the rest have taken VRS/ Super Annuated. Salaries and other terminal benefits of employees are due, 
i.e., t 172.32 lakh as at March 31, 2025. Employees of the Hotel had been repeatedly threatening of self immolation with their families due to non receipt of their legitaimate dues. 

Upon request from Subsidiary company, ITDC has disbursed loan of <' 613.44 lakhs to clear the outstanding dues of employees. Dues upto June 2022 have been cleared. A proposal for the 
fourth t ime VRS for remaining employees of RABHCL has been sent to the MoT vide letter dated February 23, 2023 for approval, which is under process. Loan and all other dues of t 
1,029.83 lakh are receivable upto March 31, 2025 (Previous Year t 960.07 lakh). 

DIPAM advised for taking approval of Alternative Mechanism (AM) instead of CCEA Note. As advised by MoT, Note for approval of AM has been sent to MoT on September 4, 2024. Property 
will be transferred after AM approval and after receiving all residual dues from Jharkhand Govt. The financial statements of RABHCL have been incorporated treating the same as 
Subsidiary for the year ended March 31, 2025. 

5 Hotel Jammu Ashok (Unit of ITDC): 
40 years lease period of the land expired in January 2010. ITDC had first requested for an extension in February 2007 . ITDC repeatedly requested State Government for renewa l but the 
renewal of land lease remained pending with the State Government. 

Govt. of J & K vide letter dated March 20, 2020, informed about non-renewal of lease and resumption of land by the State ·Govt. Pursuant to the Board decision. Operation of Hotel was 
closed on June 17, 2020 and employees were offered VRS. Those who did not opt VRS, were adjusted in other units of !TDC. 

Matter was pursued with the State Govt. for taking possession of the Hotel after payment of compensation in accordance with clause 3 (ii) of the lease deed. In t he IMG meeting held on 
September 22, 2022, IMG approved the Valuation for t ransfer of all property. plant and equipment items constructed by ITDC on the leased land on "As is where is basis". 

The same was agreed by Govt. of J & K. Handing over to take place immediately after CCEA/AM approval and receipt of consideration amount from t he Govt. of J & K. MoU with Govt. of J & 
K signed on February 9, 2023. Revised Draft CCEA Note sent to the Ministry of Tourism on October 25. 2023. MoT has circulated the Draft CCEA Note for Inter Ministerial Consultations. 
DIPAM advised to take approval of Alternative Mechanism in place of CCEA. Accordingly, note for Alternat ive Mechanism has been sent to MoT on August 29, 2024. Administ rative 
expenses pertaining to Hotel Jammu Ashok had been considered as a part of discontinued operations in the financial statements for the quarter and year ended March 31, 2025. 

6 ITDC's merger with Kumarakruppa Frontier Hotels Pvt. Ltd.: 
ITDC Board in its meeting held on December 12, 2019 has accorded in-principal approval to the merger of Kumarakruppa Frontier Hotels Pvt. Ltd. (KFHPL) with ITDC. ITDC has requested 
Ministry of Tourism (MoT) vide letter dated December 30, 2019 to consider the proposal for onward approvals from DIPAM, Ministry of Finance/ CCEA. etc. MoT vide letter dated September 
14, 2020 requested DIPAM, Ministry of Finance to grant approval in connection with merger of KFHPL with ITDC. The Matter is still under consideration at end of MoT/Dlf'AM . 

hok Travels and Tours (A 
·ing t he review of revenu 
,gnised on Gross Basis, 
ices are adjusted for an a. 

1ition: 
.,ckage Tour Operations (inc. Transport & Hotel) of Ashok Travels & Tours, New Delhi (ATT). it was observed that income was being 

;erms of contract, ATT was acting purely as an agent. Hence, in compliance to t he requirements of Ind AS 115, revenue and cost of 
kh for F.Y. 2024-25 and previous year figures have been similarly adjusted for an amount of<' 2,271.31 lakh. 

~ iw 



8 Participation in Mahakumbh, Prayagraj 2025 - Luxury Tent Accommodation Project 
JTDC, through its division - Ashok Travels & Tours (ATT). New Delhi, successfully undertook a prestigious project to provide luxury tent accommodat ion and all ied facili t ies during 
Ma hakumbh 2025 in PrayagraJ. 

A land parcel was allocated to ITDC for the execution of this project. To carry out the operations efficiently. the project was executed through one of ATT' s em paneled General Sales 
Agents (GSA). 

Considering the special nature of assignment and business involved. ITDC has engaged an independent Chartered Accountant (CA) fi rm to conduct reconcil iat ion. verification, and 
certification of the project accounts. Based on the interim report of the CA Firm and further approvals by competent authority. income and expense have been recognised in the financials 
for the period ended March 31. 2025. The project concluded successfully, resulting in a positive financial outcome. 

9 NDMC - Property Tax 
The dispute between ITDC Hotels (Ashok. Samrat, Janpath) and NDMC spans several years, with sign ificant developments in recent legal proceedings. NDMC finalized the assessment 
against a court case filed by ITDC. up to the financial year 2008-09. ITDC accepted the assessment and made the payment accordingly. However, the dispute escalated from the financial 
year 2009-10 onwards when NDMC implemented the unit area method for taxation, resulting in notices and assessments for 2009-10 to 2024-25 under New Annual Rent Bye Law 2009. 
The assessment done by the NDMC on very high side in comparison with the previous year's assessment. Various associations. including ITDC, cha llenged the unit area method in the 
Hon'ble High Court of Delhi, which was eventually struck down on August 10. 2017. NDMC then filed a Special Leave Petition (SLP) in the Hon'ble Supreme Court of India, which upheld the 
judgment of the Hon'ble High Court of Delhi on January 27. 2019. 

Despite the dismissal of NDMC's appeal by the Hon'ble Supreme Court of India. NDMC reassess the hotels on comparable rent under section 63(1) of NDMC Act 1994. The Hon'ble High 
Court vide it's order dated December 18. 2024 observed that the NDMC/ Petitioner's grievance stands satisfied. The writ petitions. alongwith pending applications. are ther-efore disposed 
of in terms of the aforesaid statement on behalf of NDMC and the rights and contentions of the parties in respect to any fresh assessment orders that NDMC may press are left open. 

Various representations were submitted to NDMC. ITDC has assessed property tax liability amounting at~ 9,867.00 lakh (Hotel Ashok and Hotel Samrat) upto F.Y. 2023-24. The matter is 
under discussion with NDMC for settlement. During the current year. an amount on 8,243.00 lakh has been considered in the Books of Accounts(~ 658.00 lakh considered in F.Y. 2024-25, 
~ 509.00 lakh in F.Y. 2023-24 and? 7,076.00 lakh adjusted against the opening reserves) . 

10 Private Licencees of Hotel and Catering Units of ITDC. i.e .• Hotel Ashok (New Delhi). Hotel Sam rat (New Delhi) and Taj Restaurant (Agra) had made request for waiver of licence fees for the 
lockdown period during F.Y. 2020-21. Keeping in mind the business scenario and considering the impact on cash flow, bil ls were not generated against most of the Private Licensees 
amounting to? 1,292.59 lakh upto September. 2020 and hence, not considered in the Financial Results. ITDC Board discussed that the grievances of Licences are genuine but it is also a 
fact that ITDC is a commercial organization and has been paying taxes, charges etc. despite lockdown without any exemption being granted to ITDC by any Statutory Organization. The 
matter is referred to MoT for their consideration. 

11 The Company identifies suppliers registered under the MSME Act, 2006, by obtaining confirmation from all suppliers at the t ime of tender and information has been coHated only to the 
extent of information received. 

12 The Board of Director has recommended of final dividend of~ 2.90 per share (Face Value? 10 per share). 

13 Earning per share is not annualized for the quarter and year ended March 31. 2025, December 31, 2024, and March 31, 2024. 

14 Details of shareholders who have not claimed dividend for F.Y. 2023-24, 2022-23. 2018-19 and 2017-18 have been given on the ITDC website under Investor Corner. Further details of 
shareholders who have not claimed dividend for last seven consecutive years and whose shares have been transferred to the IEPF, have also been given in the ITDC website under 
Investor Corner. For claiming the unclaimed dividend and unclaimed shares, shareholders are requested to contact immediately: 
Compliance Officer: Mr. V. K. Jain at ITDC HQ address 
Email : vkjain@itdc.co.in; Mobile No. 9650444533 

15 The figures for the quarter ended March 31, 2025 are the balancing figures between the audited figures in respect of the full financial year ended on that date and published year to date 
figures upto the third quarter of the said financial year. 

16 Figures of the previous reporting periods have been re-grouped/ re-classified wherever necessary to correspond with the figures of the current reporting period. 

Date: 30.05.2024 
Place: New Delhi 

For India Tourism Development Corporation Limited 

~ 

w 
(Lokesh Kumar Aggarwa l) 
Director (Finance) & CFO 

DIN No: 09714805 
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S l.1kml' III on l mp.1clJ1 I Audit ualifica tion for .,udit r' ort w ith modifie d o inion 

submittedalong-with Annual Standalone Audited financial Resu lts 

Statem ent on Inmact of Audi t O ualifications for the Financial Year Pnded March 31 202.i; 
I See Regula lion 33 / 52 of the SEBI (LODR) (Amendment) Re2ulations, 2016) 

Audited Figures I Adjusted Figures 
SI. (as reported (audited flguresafter 
No. Particulars 

before adjusting adjustingfor I 

~ 
forqualiflcations) qualiflcatlons) 

I' in lakhl (' in lakhl 

Turnover/ Total income 58,778.36 60,070.95 

Total Expenditure 48,694.83 48,694.83 . 2. 

3. Net Profit/(Loss) 8,294.25 9,261.52 
4. Earnings Per Share 9.67 10.80 
5. Total Assets 77,367.13 78,659.72 

6. Total Liabilities 37,210.40 . 37,535.72 

7. Net Worth 40,156.73 41,124.00 
Any other financial item(s) (as felt appropriate by the 

8. management) 

Audit Qualification (each audit qualification separately): 

a. Details of AuditQualification: As per Annexure-A 

b. Type of Audit Qualification: Qualified Opinion/ Disclaimer of Opinion/ AdverseOpinion: 
Qualified 

c. Frequency of qualification: Whether appeared first time / repetitive/ since how longcontinuing: 
Annexure -A 

d. For Audit Qualification(s) where the impact is quantified by the auditor, Management'sViews: 
Annexure-A 

e. For Audit Qualification(s) where the impact is not quantified by theauditor: 

( i) Management's estimation on the impact of auditqualification: Annexure-A 

(ii) If management is unable to estimate the impact, reasons for thesame: Annexure -A 

(iii) Auditors' Comments on (i) or (ii) above: Not applicable 

Signatories: 

\~~-~ • CEO/ManagingDirector 

~A-- - 1,0 · S' 
• CFO r 
• Audit CommitteeChairman ,. / -- '--

Statutory Auditor - - - I\ ,,,...,,.- ~ • / -
1 

Place: New Delhi '-I 
Date: 30.05.2025 

-



· Sr. 
No. 

A 

B 

Audit Qualification Type of 
Audit 

Frequency 
of Audit 

Impact not 
quantified by 

Annexure - A (Standalone) 

Qualification I Qualification 

Management's 
view where 
impact of 

Audit 
Qualification 
is quantified 

by the 
Auditors 

Auditor, 
Management 
's estimation 
on the impact 

If 
Management 
is unable to 
estimate the 

impact, 
reasons for 

the same (II) 

Auditor's 
Comment 
on (I) and 

MSMED Act Compliances: 
As per the information provided to us, the 
Company has identified suppliers registered under 
the MSMED Act, 2006, by obtaining confirmation 
from suppliers and information has been collated 
to the extent of information received. 

In the absence of the requisite audit evidence, we 
are unable to determine the delay in making 
payment to MSME entities. liability of interest and 
compliance on such delayed payments in terms of 
provisions of MSMED Act. 

Qualified 
Opinion 

Revenue from License fee I Qualified 
The Company has not generated invoices for Opinion 
license fees on licensees of units, viz. Ashok Hotel, 
Samrat Hotel & Taj Restaurant (units of ITDC) to 
the tune of Rs. 1292.59 lakhs during the year 2020-
21 on account of Covid-1 9 pandemic, and hence 
not considered in Books of Accounts. The matter 
is still under consideration before the board of 
Directors of ITDC. Thus, the sale of services from 
license fees and trade receivables of the Company 
continued to be understated to this extent. 

Fourth Time 

of audit 
qualification 

:i 
Not quantified I Not quantified All pending 
by Auditor by issues have 

Management been majorly 
resolved, and 
compliances 
are in place. No 
major financial 
impact as on 
date. 

Fourth Time I Amount of Rs. IN.A. 
1,292.59 lakhs 

N.A. 

not booked as 
Revenue from 
Operations 

(II) 

N.A 

N.A 



C Ashok Tours and Travels (ATT) Delhi 

I. A TT had entered into a General Sales Agent I Qualified 
(GSA) agreement with Mis Shree Plan Your Opinion 
Journey Pvt. Ltd. (SPY J) in September 2019 for 
marketing of its travel-related business. Upon 
expiry of this agreement, SPY J was again 
appointed as GSA through a fresh open tender 
process dated October 21 , 2024. As per 
management, the terms and conditions of the 
new agreement are to be considered 
independently from the earlier arrangement. In 
respect of the GSA agreement dated September 
2019, we observed the following points: 
I. After the initial deposit of security of Rs. 

300.00 lakh. The said amount was required 
to be increased additionally through the 
deposit of funds as and when required based 
on the business. As per the agreement, the 
evaluation is to be made by the Company on 
a monthly basis, and in case of its non­
compliance, the issue of all travel-related 
services would be stopped till funds are 
received. 
However, as at March 31, 2025, total amount 
receivable from the business conducted 
through the GSA amounts to Rs. 5,238.96 
lakh, whereas. A TT has kept on 'HOLD' 
only an amount of Rs. 1,579.82 lakh in the 
form of security deposit, bank guarantee, 
commission and other services payable to 
cover the outstanding limit. Hence, there is a 
deficit which is not in consonance with the 
terms of the agreement (dated September, 
2019) and directive of the Board. 

II. We observe that various conditions oft 
agreemen_!_ with SPYJ were not comJJlie 

Fourth Time 

!iv 

Not quantified 
by Auditor 

Not quantified 
by 
Management 

Considering 
the nature and 
volume of 
business 
involved, 
necessary 
terms and 
conditions has 
been amended 
in the new 
agreement. 
Rigorous 
efforts are 
being made for 
the recovery of 
the balance 
receivable. 

Reconciliation 
exercise is in 
advance stage. 

I N.A. 



&/or not enforced like credit limit, 
reconciliation, monthly evaluation, 
additional Bank Guarantee (BG) etc. Despite 
raising the issues in the previous years and 
also in the cu1Tent year. There is periodical 
reconciliation of PLB from Airlines, 
identification of unlinked receipts, credit 
note delays, settlement of commission bills 
after receiving full payment from SPYJ 
clients, compliance of SoP etc. Separate 
reconciliation for compliance towards old 
agreement was not available on record. 
Above mentioned deficiencies have 
repercussions on timely compliance of TDS 
and provisions under GST Act. 

In view of the circumstances stated in para 1 and 2 
above we are unable to comment on the final 
outcome of non-compliance of the terms of 
Agreement, compliance, reconciliation and/ or 
assessment of recoverability for the outstanding in 
the accounts pertaining to SPYJ and ATT 
customers and its consequential impact on the 
Standalone Financial Statements. 

2. During the year 2024-25, ITDC through its 
division - Ashok Travels & Tours (A TT), I Qualified 
undertook a prestigious project to provide luxury Opinion 
tent accommodation and allied facilities during 
Mahakumbh 2025 in Prayagraj. The project was 
executed through one of ATT's empaneled 
General Sales Agents (GSA) named M/s Zenith 
Leisure Holidays Ltd. further, Considering the 
special nature of assignment and busines 
involved, ITDC has engaged, an independe 
Chartered Accountant (CA) firm to condu 
reconciliation, verification, and certification of th' 

First Time 

~ 

Not quantified I Not quantified Due 
by Auditor by reconciliation 

Management along with the 
final report of 
the engaged 
professional is 
in advance 
stage of 
completion. 

N.A. 



project accounts and based on the interim report of 
such CA firm, income and expenses have been 
recognised in the financial statement for the period 
ended march 31, 2025. The outcome is subject to 
linal report and reconci liation. (Refer point No. 21 
of Note No. 39 of the Standalone Financial 
Statements). 

In the absence of the final outcome of the above 
project accounts and adequate supporting 
document for verification of revenue and expense 
related to above event, we are unable to determine 
the completeness and accuracy of the revenue and 
expenses recognized and the conesponding 
financial impact on the financial statements for the 
_year ended 3 1st March 2025. 

3. A TT (ITDC) has entered into Memorandum of I Qualified 
understanding (MOU)/ Travel Services Agreement Opinion 
(TSA) with its various customers comprising of 
mainly Ministries/Govt. Departments/ 
Government organisations for rendering travel 
related services of Domestic and International Air 
Ticketing at "00"/ Nil charge. Further an Office 
Memorandum (OM) was issued by MoF on 16th 
June, 2022 for non-levy of any agency charges/ 
convenience fee. In few cases/services the 
company is yet to implement such clauses ofTSA 
and aforementioned (OM). 

In view of circumstances stated in para above, we 
are unable to comment on the final outcome of 
non- compliance of terms of MOU with A TT 
customers and its consequential impact thereof on 
the Standalone Financial statement. 

Third Time 

ti1~1v 

Not quantified 
by Auditor 

Not quantified 
by 
Management 

Necessary 
action is being 
taken 

\ 

N .A. 
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Statement on Im act of Audit ualifications for aud it re ort with modi fied o inion 
submittedalong-with Annual Consolidated Audited Financial Results 

s tatement on mJ!act o Au 1t ua f d' 0 lifi cations or the Financi al Year en e arc f d d M h 31, 202 5 
[See Regulation 33 / 52 of the SEBI (LODR) (Amendment) Regulations, 2016] 

I Audited Figures Adjusted Figures 
SI. (as reported (audited figuresafter 
No. 

Particulars 
beforeadjust ing adjustingfor 

forqualifications) qualificat ions) 
(' in lakh) (' in lakh) 

1. Turnover / Total income 59,136.84 60.429.43 -
2. Total Expenditure 49,259.51 49,259.51 

-----l 
3. Net Profit/ (Loss) 8,082. 79 9,050.06 

~ 

4. Earnings Per Share 9.42 10.55 

5. Total Assets 74,636.18 75,928.77 

6. Total Liabilities 39,407.61 39,732.93 

7. Net Worth 35,228.57 36,195.84 

Any other financial item(s) (as felt appropriate by the 
8. management) --

. Audit Qualification (each audit guallfication seearatellr'.l : 

I 
a. Details of AuditQualiflcation: As per Annexure-A 

b. Type of Audit Qualification : Qualified Opinion / Disclaimer of Opinion / Adverse0 pinion: 
Qualified 

.. 
c. Frequency of quahficat1on: Whether appeared first time / repet1t1ve / since how longcontinuing: 
Annexure - A 

d. For Audit Qualificatlon(s) where the Impact is quantified by the auditor, Management'sVlews: 
Annexure -A 

e. For Audit Qualification(s) where the impact is not quantified by theauditor: 

(i) Management's estimation on the Impact of auditqualification: Annexure - A 

(ii) If management Is unable to est imate the impact, reasons for thesame: Annexure -A 

(iii) Auditors' Comments on (I) or (ii) above: Not applicable 
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I 
Place: New Delhi 

Date: 30.05.2025 



Sr. 
No 

A 

B 

Audit Qualification Type of 
Audit 

Frequency 
of Audit 

Impact not 
quantified by 

Annexure - A (Consolidated) 

Qualification I Qualification 

Management's 
view where 
impact of 

Audit 
Qualification 
is quantified 

by the 
Auditors 

Auditor, 
Management 
's estimation 
on the impact 

If 
Management 
is unable to 
estimate the 

impact, 
reasons for 

the same (II) 

Auditor's 
Comment 
on (1) and 

MSMED Act Compliances: 
As per the information provided to us, the 
Company has identified suppliers registered under 
the MSMED Act, 2006, by obtaining confirmation 
from suppliers and information has been collated to 
the extent of information received. 

In the absence of the requisite audit evidence, we 
are unable to detem1ine the delay in making 
payment to MSME entities, liability of interest and 
compliance on such delayed payments in terms of 
provisions of MS MED Act. 

Qualified 
Opinion 

Revenue from License fee I Qualified 
The Company has not generated invoices for Opinion 
1 icense fees on licensees of units, viz. Ashok Hotel, 
Samrat Hotel & Taj Restamant (units of ITDC) to 
the tune of Rs. 1292.59 lakhs dming the year 2020-
21 on account of Covid-1 9 pandemic, and hence 
not considered in Books of Accounts. The matter is 
still under consideration before the board of 
Directors of ITDC. Thus, the sale of services from 
license fees and trade receivables of the Comp 
continued to be understated to this extent. 

Fourth Time 

of audit 
qualification 

I 
Not quantified I Not quantified All pending 
by Auditor by issues have 

Management been majorly 
resolved, and 
compliances 
are in place. No 
major financial 
impact as on 
date. 

Fourth Time I Amount of Rs. IN.A. 
1,292.59 lakhs 

N.A. 

Al-tv' 

not booked as 
Revenue from 
Operations 

(II) 

N.A 

N.A 



C Ashok Tours and Travels (ATT) Delhi 

1. A TT had entered into a General Sales Agent I Qualified 
(GSA) agreement with Mis Slu·ee Plan Your Opinion 
Journey Pvt. Ltd. (SPYJ) in September 2019 for 
marketing of its travel-related business. Upon 
expiry of this agreement, SPYJ was again 
appointed as GSA through a fresh open tender 
process dated October 21, 2024. As per 
management, the terms and conditions of the 
new agreement are to be considered 
independently from the earlier anangement. In 
respect of the GSA agreement dated September 
2019, we observed the following points: 
I. After the initial deposit of security of Rs. 

300.00 lakh. The said amount was required to 
be increased additionally tlu·ough the deposit 
of funds as and when required based on the 
business. As per the agreement, the 
evaluation is to be made by the Company on 
a monthly basis, and in case of its non­
compliance, the issue of all travel-related 
services would be stopped till funds are 
received. 
However, as at March 31 , 2025, total amount 
receivable from the business conducted 
through the GSA amounts to Rs. 5,238.96 
lakh, whereas. ATT has kept on ' HOLD' 
only an amount of Rs. 1,579.82 lakh in the 
fo1m of security deposit, bank guarantee, 
commission and other services payable to 
cover the outstanding limit. Hence, there is a 
deficit which is not in consonance with the 
terms of the agreement (dated September, 
2019) and directive of the Board. 

II. We observe that various conditions of the 
agreement with SPYJ were not complied 

Fourth Time I Not quantified I Not quantified Considering 
by Auditor by the nature and 

w 

Management volume of 
business 
involved, 
necessary 
terms and 
conditions has 
been amended 
in the new 
agreement. 
Rigorous 
efforts are 
being made for 
the recovery of 
the balance 
receivable. 

Reconciliation 
exercise is in 
advance stage. 

N.A. 



&/or not enforced like credit limit, 
reconciliation, monthly evaluation, 
additional Bank Guarantee (BG) etc. Despite 
raising the issues in the previous years and 
also in the current year. There is periodical 
reconciliation of PLB from Airlines, 
identification of unlinked receipts, credit note 
delays, settlement of commission bills after 
receiving full payment from SPYJ clients, 
compliance of SoP etc. Separate 
reconciliation for compliance towards old 
agreement was not available on record. 
Above mentioned deficiencies have 
repercussions on timely compliance of TDS 
and provisions under OST Act. 

In view of the circumstances stated in para 1 and 2 
above we a.re unable to comment on the final 
outcome of non-compliance of the terms of 
Agreement. compliance, reconciliation and/ or 
assessment of recoverability for the outstanding in 
the accounts pertaining to SPY J and A TT 
customers and its consequential impact on the 
Standalone Financial Statements. 

2. During the year 2024-25, ITDC through its 
division - Ashok Travels & Tours (A TT), I Qualified 
undertook a prestigious project to provide luxury Opinion 
tent accommodation and allied facilities during 
Mahakumbh 2025 in Prayagraj. The project was 
executed through one of ATT's empaneled General 
Sales Agents (GSA) named Mis Zenith Leisure 
Holidays Ltd. further, Considering the special 
nature of assignment and business involved, ITDC 
has engaged, an independent Chartered Accountant 
(CA) firm to conduct reconciliation, verification, 
and certification of the project accounts and based 

First Time Not quantified I Not quantified Due 
by Auditor by reconci liation 

/y 

Management along with the 
final report of 
the engaged 
professional is 
in advance 
stage of 
completion. 

N.A. 



on the interim report of such CA firm, income and 
expenses have been recognised in the financial 
statement for the period ended march 31, 2025. The 
outcome is subject to final report and 
reconciliation. (Refer point No. 21 of Note No. 39 
of the Standalone Financial Statements). 

In the absence of the final outcome of the above 
project accounts and adequate supporting 
document for verification of revenue and expense 
related to above event, we are unable to determine 
the completeness and accuracy of the revenue and 
expenses recognized and the corresponding 
financial impact on the financial statements for the 
_year ended 31st March 2 02 5. 

3. A TT (ITDC) has entered into Memorandum of I Qualified 
understanding (MOU)/ Travel Services Agreement Opinion 
(TSA) with its various customers comprising of 
mainly Ministries/Govt. Departments/ Government 
organisations for rendering travel related services 
of Domestic and International Air Ticketing at 
"00"/ Nil charge. Further an Office Memorandum 
(OM) was issued by MoF on 16th June, 2022 for 
non-levy of any agency charges/ convenience fee . 
In few cases/services the company is yet to 
implement such clauses of TSA and 
aforementioned (OM). 

In view of circumstances stated in para above, we 
are unable to comment on the final outcome of non­
compliance of terms of MOU with ATT customers 
and its consequential impact thereof on the 
Standalone Financial statement. 

Third Time Not quantified I Not quantified Necessary 
by Auditor by action is being 

N.A. 

Management taken 

rAu/ 
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